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1 Introduction 
There is considerable demand for information from Statistics Netherlands (CBS) from the public sector, 
politicians, academics and the media. CBS provides support so that public debate, research and decision-
making can be based on reliable statistical information. In this annual report CBS looks back on its activi-
ties and results in 2017. It describes the statistical and other products created in 2017.  

The law provides that the costs of performing CBS’ statutory tasks are paid from the government’s 
budget. In practice, this means that CBS receives a multi-annual contribution from the Ministry of Eco-
nomic Affairs and Climate Policy for its activities. This contribution constitutes CBS’ basic budget. The ac-
tivities financed from the basic budget constitute CBS’ basic programme. 

The basic programme consists of two components: statistics required by European legislation, which 
make up the bulk of CBS’ statistics output, plus additional statistics that are of importance for practice, 
policy and academic purposes. The standard output forms the core of CBS’ work programme and em-
braces a wide range of subjects. In 2017 CBS published media releases on subjects meeting public needs 
almost every day. 

The basic budget is insufficient to fully meet the demand for statistics. Since the demand for statistical 
information particularly from public authorities is greater than can be met from the regular funding, CBS 
provides additional statistical services, the volume of which has grown substantially in the past 10 years. 
In 2017 the portfolio amounted to €39 million, representing over 20 per cent of CBS' total budget. Exam-
ples of this additional statistical research are the statistics on decentralisation in healthcare, statistics on 
asylum-seeking migrants and the Monitor of Well-being. 

Users, usually ministries, but increasingly also municipalities and provinces, increasingly provide direct 
funding for the statistics they need. These include larger, long-term statistical programmes, but also one-
off surveys. 

There is only limited financial scope for programme renewal and innovation designed to meet all the de-
mand for statistical information and services. CBS therefore relies on subsidies, European grants and 
partnerships where possible in order to achieve the necessary innovations.  

Developments in 2017 

CBS has to contend with three major developments when performing its core tasks. Demand in society 
for accurate and up-to-date statistics is growing. The process of producing statistics is changing due to 
social developments such as the increasing use of devices and smartphones and the availability of new 
data sources such as the internet and sensors. There is also public demand for CBS to continue evolving 
in order to produce statistics with increasing efficiency and a minimal administrative burden.  

Innovation is crucial in order to respond to these developments. Innovative methods open up access to 
new data sources, including big data, enable CBS surveys to be completed on modern devices and make 
CBS’ statistics production increasingly efficient. This will ensure that in future too information can be 
supplied in the right form, at the right time and to the right person or organisation. Increasingly, the pur-
pose of that information is to describe social phenomena on the basis of interconnected indicators.  

These changes also form the basis for the development of data centres for municipalities (Urban Data 
Centres – UDCs – and Rural Data Centers – RDCs), regions (Euregional Data Centres – EDCs), provinces 
(Provincial Data Centres – PDCs) and ministries (Departmental Data Centres – DDCs), which are financed 
by the relevant municipality, province or ministry. At the end of 2017 there were a total of 8 UDCs, one 
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RDC, one EDC and one DDC. An Academic Data Centre was also opened in collaboration with the Univer-
sity of Groningen in 2017.    

In the autumn of 2016, CBS established the Center for Big Data Statistics (CBDS). This brings together na-
tional and international public authorities, enterprises, academics and the education sector to explore 
the potential of technologies and methods that use Big Data for the production of statistics. The goals of 
the CBDS in the years ahead are to develop new statistics and methods and achieve faster, more up-to-
date output, with greater detail, at lower cost and with fewer surveys required.  

Continually investing in relationships with stakeholders is important for the work and position of CBS. As 
in previous years, CBS used its knowledge and experience to contribute to specific exchanges through 
bilateral and multilateral alliances. It continued to build on its good relationships with parliament, minis-
tries, national policy analysis agencies, knowledge institutes (such as universities and universities of ap-
plied sciences) and business. 

In accordance with the Statistics Netherlands Act, CBS submitted the 2019-2023 multi-annual pro-
gramme to the minister of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy at the end of 2017. 

Financial framework 

The contribution CBS receives from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy to carry out its 
basic programme has fallen sharply. Due to the successive targets of Prime Minister Rutte’s first two gov-
ernments and the Spring Agreement, the basic budget declined by €50 million in that period, equivalent 
to more than 25 per cent of the original budget of €188 million in 2011. 

CBS achieved most of these cuts through efficiency measures leading to a permanent cost reduction, for 
example by completing various large redesign projects and implementing efficiency projects using the 
Lean Six Sigma methodology, Lean Operational Management and Agile and Scrum methods for IT pro-
jects. The remainder of the savings were achieved through reductions in the statistical programme. 

The financial frameworks resulting from the targets of prime minister Rutte’s second government be-
came clear in mid-July 2017. CBS received a contribution of €12 million from the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Climate Policy in 2017 to strengthen its equity. This contribution is being paid in tranches 
equivalent to the remaining tranches specified in the targets of the second Rutte government (‘Rutte II’), 
i.e. €4 million in 2016, €2 million in 2017, €4 million in 2018 and €2 million in 2019. After 2019, CBS will 
be required to meet the remainder of the Rutte II targets (€4 million) itself within its budget. The annual 
contribution to CBS from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy will also be reduced by €2 
million for a period of six years from 2021 to 2026. The new coalition agreement under Prime Minister 
Rutte’s third government has imposed no new targets. 

The Rutte II spending cuts will be implemented in part through a reduction in the programme from 2017. 
Since most of the statistical programme arises from EU obligations which leave no room for savings, the 
reductions have affected statistics that are not required by the EU. In 2016, CBS approached the relevant 
ministries to seek alternative financing for those statistics. As a result, CBS will be able to continue to 
provide most of the non-mandatory statistics. Part of the non-mandatory programme was terminated on 
1 January 2017. An additional saving will also be achieved in 2018 as a result of a further increase in effi-
ciency and cuts in the materials budget.  

A deficit of €4.5 million has been budgeted for 2018. This is a larger deficit than that provided for in the 
long-term financial framework, due to the incomplete offsetting of rising labour costs in past years. Eq-
uity is therefore expected to fall to a negative amount of €4.5 million in 2018. CBS has obtained written 
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consent from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy to budget for negative equity in the 
next few years up to a maximum of approximately €5 million. Positive results are expected again after 
2018. Equity is expected to turn positive again at the end of the new multi-annual programme period 
from 2019 to 2023. On the basis of the current estimates, liquidity is expected to remain positive despite 
the expected negative equity. CBS also has an additional €10 million credit facility. 

Overall this meant in 2017 that there was hardly any scope for IT or other investment which would im-
prove efficiency and also replace fragile and end-of-life IT infrastructure to avoid risks to continuity and 
quality. This will remain the case in the years ahead. 

Evaluation of the functioning of CBS 

In 2017, the Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy commissioned a study of the effectiveness 
and efficiency of CBS’ operation, as required by the Autonomous Administrative Authorities Framework 
Act. The independence of statistics production was also examined. The study covered the years 2010-
2015 and resulted in a report that was submitted to the House of Representatives. The main conclusions 
of the report by Andersson Elffers Felix (AEF) are as follows: “AEF’s general opinion of the operation of 
CBS during the period is positive. The evaluation shows that CBS operated effectively when performing 
its statutory duties in the period 2010-2015.” AEF also considers that users are “extremely satisfied with 
the quality of statistics produced by CBS and with its services”. “At the same time, the operation of CBS 
became more efficient during the evaluation period”. “Finally, AEF notes that the independence of the 
production of statistics by CBS in the evaluation period was beyond any doubt”. CBS concurs with these 
main conclusions and regards them as confirmation and recognition of the results of its policies. The re-
searchers believe that future developments are a reason to further enhance the effectiveness and effi-
ciency of CBS in a number of areas. CBS regards these recommendations as an incentive to progress fur-
ther along its chosen path.  

Administrative developments 

Until 1 January 2017, CBS had two independent administrative bodies: the Central Commission for Statis-
tics (CCS) and the Director General. As part of the government-wide review of the repositioning of CBS’ 
two autonomous administrative authorities, the government decided at the end of 2013 that the two 
authorities should be reduced to one. The relevant bill was passed in 2016 and CCS’ status as an autono-
mous administrative body was accordingly abolished with effect from 1 January 2017. Since then the Di-
rector General has been advised on the performance of his tasks and powers by an Advisory Council. 

The Hague, 30 March 2018 

Director General of Statistics Netherlands 

T.B.P.M. Tjin-A-Tsoi 
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2 Statistical programme and additional statistical research 

2.1 Standard statistical programme 

The standard statistical programme forms the core of CBS’ output and encompasses a wide range of 
subjects. Most of the output comprises statistical information that CBS is obliged to produce under Euro-
pean legislation. Every day, CBS publishes tables and media releases with the very latest information. For 
many years, it has published detailed figures in StatLine, a free database. CBS’ entire database is also 
available as open data. Section 2.6 has a table showing the standard output in 2017 arranged by theme. 
CBS produced its regular output in 2017, including the programme for the Caribbean Netherlands. Media 
releases and publications were produced on schedule. Monitors were published, such as the quarterly 
monitor on public finance. 

The budget for the statistical programme has declined substantially in the last few years as a result of the 
targets of the first Rutte government and the Spring Agreement and will contract further in the coming 
years. The multi-annual programme states that CBS will respond to these budget cuts by taking measures 
to maximise efficiency in combination with the use of its equity and the discontinuation of the smallest 
possible number of statistics. Unless alternative funding were found, further reductions in the non-man-
datory component of the statistical programme would have been necessary as a result of the additional 
targets set by the second Rutte government. In 2016 CBS therefore asked the ministries to indicate 
which of the non-mandatory statistics earmarked for cancellation they wished to retain and would be 
willing to pay for. Thanks to funding from a number of ministries, it was possible to retain the majority of 
the non-mandatory statistics in 2017. The following statistics and data were discontinued with effect 
from 2017. 

 Overarching annual statistics on Quality of Life, in which various aspects that together determine 
quality of life are grouped according to various dimensions; 

 The five-yearly Family and Fertility Survey; 

 Statistics on expenditures on safety care in the Netherlands, on the spending on the fire brigade and 
on civil law; 

 Statistics on sales of new and secondhand motor vehicles and the motorcycles and mopeds survey; 

 The annual publication Transport and Mobility; 

 The statistics on financial markets and investment funds; 

 The seasonal series of statistics on accountancy services; 

 Statistics on homes for sale and new commissions for architects; 

 Expenditure per diploma; 

 Decomposition of expenditure on education (analysis of how changes affecting individual compo-
nents of expenditure on education influence developments in total education spending);  

 The annual statistics for the Bank for the Accounts of Companies Harmonised (BACH) database taken 
from the Statistics on the Finances of Enterprises (SFO);  

 Some specific datasets derived from the annual statistics on investments.  

In 2017, CBS identified several social phenomena and the accompanying trends by improving the cohe-
sion, visibility and accessibility of figures. This led to descriptions of economic and social phenomena in a 
wider context.  
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A price dashboard was introduced for the first time in June 2017. This displays the trends in a wide range 
of prices, highlighting exceptional rises and falls. These combined prices determine the inflation rate. In-
flation was previously equated to the year-on-year change in consumer prices. Developments in recent 
years have shown that use of the consumer price index as the sole indicator of ‘the inflation rate’ takes 
insufficient account of price trends in non-consumer markets.  

The end of 2017 saw the launch of Statistical Trends, CBS’ new digital publication on social and socioeco-
nomic themes. Statistical Trends contains figures, analyses, descriptions of statistical results and back-
ground studies.  

A number of other developments forming part of CBS’ core work programme in 2017 are set out below.  

In 2017, the System of Social Statistical Datasets again provided researchers with more possibilities to 
combine microdata from registers, other sources of administrative data and surveys efficiently and effec-
tively. Panel data covering a longer period were also made available, partly by adding previously con-
ducted research and panel surveys. Panel data can be used to monitor individuals over time to provide 
useful information for research into life course dynamics, for example for children as compared to their 
parents. 

It was possible to expand the statistics on mental health care and on the consumption of medical spe-
cialist care on the basis of the records of Diagnosis Treatment Combinations (DTCs) to include tables 
based on individuals' background characteristics. 

The annual labour market in figures publication appeared in May. The pension entitlement statistics 
were also published in 2017 after a redesign of the production process. These statistics show people’s 
accrued and attainable pension entitlements.  

In consultation with the Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis (CPB) and De Nederlandsche 
Bank (DNB), CBS revised the method of calculating the labour income ratio (LIR), reflecting reward for 
labour as a share of the total economy. The new method includes an improvement in the calculation of 
the pay of self-employed workers. The LIR was published for the first time in accordance with the new 
calculation method in June 2017. 

That month also saw the publication of the new edition of ICT, knowledge and the economy. This publi-
cation paints a broad picture of the Dutch knowledge economy based on the latest figures showing how 
information technology and the internet are used by businesses and private individuals. This publication 
also covers research and development, innovation in Dutch enterprises and knowledge potential.  

Minor maintenance was carried out on sources and estimation methods as part of the 2015 revision of 
the National Accounts. The harmonisation of the balance of payments statistics and the international 
investment position in the national accounts was also carried out in collaboration with De Nederlandsche 
Bank. Various revision projects were completed, specific estimates were introduced for the revision year 
and work took place on the rapid compilation of time series. This makes it possible to publish the revi-
sions for 2015, the definitive figures for 2016 and the provisional figures for 2017, together with a time 
series for 1995-2014, in June 2018. 

  



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2017 – 30 March 2018                     

9 

2.2 Communication and alliances 

One of CBS’ core tasks is an expansion of the reach and use of the statistics it produces. Although the 
number of media releases fell slightly compared to 2016, CBS was able to use the statistical information 
more widely in 2017, for example by expanding the English-language channels and regional figures and 
targeting young people on social media. Greater cooperation between CBS and regional broadcasters 
means that regional users and other interested parties now have even better access to CBS figures. An 
active approach to news media to familiarise the public with the statistics also proved successful.  
 

 
figure 2.1: total number of reports about CBS by type of media (2015, 2016, 2017)  

Figure 2.1 shows growth in the number of radio and TV productions and in the number of printed media 
productions based on CBS figures.  

Monitoring has shown that these productions are often given greater prominence than was previously 
the case. CBS appeared much more frequently in 2017, particularly on TV. The impact was also greater in 
2017 despite a slight decrease in the number of mentions – media news productions based on CBS fig-
ures and stories – compared to 2016. The decrease in the number of mentions is mainly attributable to a 
decline on online news and other websites. This is partly due to the consolidation of media companies 
that has resulted in fewer ‘unique’ news sites.  

CBS created 889 productions1 concerning statistics in 2017 (1 per cent fewer than in 2016 (see figure 
2.2.)).  

Figures on economic and social phenomena were presented in context by means of special productions, 
for example on dashboards, comprehensive articles and contributions to programmes by public broad-
casters such as NOS for the House of Representatives elections and Omroep WNL for the ‘Stand van Ne-
derland’ programme. 

 

                                                      
1 That amounts to 615 media releases (section 2.6) plus background articles, books and corporate articles without a media release. 
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figure 2.2: number of productions issued by CBS (2015, 2016, 2017) 

 

The use of data visualisation has grown enormously and now provides a flexible and comprehensible 
means of presenting statistical information. CBS has developed new tools providing a fast and easy 
means of producing clear and attractive data visualisations, particularly for online channels and video. 

There was strong interest among government organisations, business and foreign statistical agencies in 
2017 in the way in which CBS disseminates statistical information. The strategic choices made by CBS to 
achieve much greater impact among the public with the statistics and related stories are considered ex-
emplary by many organisations. CBS organised receptions, presentations and workshops to meet the de-
mand from other organisations wishing to learn about these methods. 

A fully overhauled version of StatLine was introduced in October 2017, representing a major advance in 
terms of ease of use and technology. Dissemination continues to be based on StatLine, the interface to 
CBS’ open data containing the statistics. Access to the datasets has been greatly simplified, with better 
subject selections and improved searchability. The new version is fully equipped for use on mobile 
screens. The tables and graphs displayed are a perfect fit for the screen formats and drag-and-drop tech-
nology now lets users easily adapt datasets to their own requirements. Initial reactions from users have 
been overwhelmingly positive. 

In 2017 CBS published a memorandum on the publication policy on the website. To supplement this pol-
icy, CBS also drew up a complaints procedure with regard to the CBS publication policy. This procedure 
was not used in 2017. 

 

Alliances 

CBS again used its knowledge and experience to contribute to specific exchanges through bilateral and 
multilateral alliances in 2017. 

CBS, the Employee Insurance Agency (UWV) and the Tax and Customs Administration won an interna-
tional award in February for their collaboration in the payroll tax chain, in which the Tax and Customs 
Administration, the UWV and CBS gather all the information from employers concerning the pay of work-
ers in the Netherlands. The international award is presented annually by the Association of Strategic Alli-
ance Professionals (ASAP), a worldwide organisation devoted to monitoring, assessing and promoting 
alliance management and cross-organisational collaboration. It was the first time that a public partner-
ship had won the ASAP award.  
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The relationship with parliament was further strengthened in 2017. Contact was maintained with the 
Bureau for Research and Public Expenditures (BOR), a helpdesk was managed for members of parliament 
and technical briefings were provided for parliamentarians and parliamentary committees on the CBS 
study of the revision of the weighting system used in primary education, a discussion on lifelong learning, 
and mutual work visits.  

The collaboration with De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) was further intensified, leading to the signing of a 
partnership agreement in September 2017. The aim is to develop a joint operational process for produc-
ing sector accounts (CBS statistics) and the balance of payments (DNB statistics) in 2018, eliminating the 
discrepancies that currently exist between the two sets of statistics describing the Netherlands’ interna-
tional economic relations. The CBS national accounts data and the DNB balance of payments data will 
therefore be entirely in agreement from 2018. 

CBS and the Research and Documentation Centre (WODC) of the Ministry of Justice and Security laid the 
foundations for a source data chain model with the partners in the criminal law chain in 2017. The aim 
of the chain model is to achieve joint efficiency gains in 2018 with higher data quality, greater clarity and 
higher information value. The model pinpoints the vulnerabilities and error sensitivities in the chain, al-
lowing a targeted approach to error prevention. 

The cooperation in relation to the State of Public Health and Care was further developed in 2017. The 
key figures were expanded and all information was made accessible as open data. The key figures are 
being developed through a partnership between CBS, the Netherlands Institute for Health Services Re-
search, the Netherlands Youth Institute, the Dutch Healthcare Authority, the Netherlands Institute for 
Social Research, the Trimbos Institute and the National Health Care Institute under the direction of the 
National Institute for Public Health and the Environment. 

Onderwijsincijfers.nl is a joint website of the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science, the Education 
Executive Agency and CBS. A concise compilation of key figures on Dutch education was published on 
this website and various themed articles appeared on a range of subjects in 2017. 

October saw the publication of the fourth edition of the National Energy Outlook, detailing Dutch ad-
vances in the field of sustainable energy and the climate. This publication came about through close col-
laboration between CBS, the Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands, the Netherlands Environmental 
Assessment Agency and the Netherlands Enterprise Agency.  

In 2017 CBS organised two microdata afternoons to inform and inspire researchers and users and 
strengthen the relationship between CBS and researchers. In these six-monthly meetings users were in-
formed of the latest developments in the field of microdata and exchanged experiences. 

As part of ODISSEI (Open Data Infrastructure for Social Science and Economic Innovations, a data plat-
form for human and social sciences launched in 2016), CBS offers social science researchers access to mi-
crodatasets via the remote access facility. These are large-scale, longitudinal data collections that are in-
terconnected. A pilot was launched at the end of 2017, with ODISSEI paying participants an allowance to 
meet the costs of using CBS microdata. In the case of the National Roadmap for Large-Scale Scientific In-
frastructure of the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO), an application was submit-
ted in 2017 for more stable funding of this network.  

In February 2017 a well-attended housing market conference was organised and in the autumn a work-
shop was held for industry organisations to explore wishes and possibilities with regard to additional sta-
tistical research.  
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The collaboration between CBS and the World Council on City Data (WCCD) was also expanded in 2017. 
WCCD is a world leader in standardised urban indicators and specialises in the certification of cities in 
terms of quality of life, sustainability and smart data. 

Strong links with universities and universities of applied sciences are important for CBS as a knowledge 
institution, because in-depth scientific knowledge produces better statistics. In turn, universities and uni-
versities of applied sciences benefit from CBS’ practical and methodological knowledge, for example in 
the field of large datasets. The collaborative projects in 2017 contributed to the development of new 
products, the exchange of knowledge and the improvement of processes. This took place partly through 
the use of interns, graduates and post-doctoral researchers. The collaboration also makes a fundamental 
contribution to an appropriate recruitment policy for future CBS personnel.  

At the end of 2017, the following CBS employees were involved in this collaboration as professors: 

Bart Bakker  Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Methodology of register data for social  

                        scientific research 

Jan van den Brakel  Maastricht University  Survey methodology 

Marjolijn Das  Erasmus University Rotterdam Urban Statistics 

Ruben van Gaalen   University of Amsterdam  Register analyses of life course dynamics 

Jan Kardaun  Academic Medical Center                  Registration and Statistics of Causes of Death 

Jan Latten                  University of Amsterdam  Demographics, in particular the demographic 

                                                                                            and spatial aspects of relationship and family formation. 

Hans Schmeets Maastricht University  Social statistics, in particular empirical  

                                    studies of social cohesion 

Barry Schouten Utrecht University   Mixed-mode survey designs 

Wendy Smits Maastricht University  Labour Market Flexibility 

Jan-Pieter Smits Eindhoven University of Technology Quantification of Sustainability 

Ton de Waal Tilburg University   Data integration 

 
On 30 March 2017 Ruben van Gaalen gave his inaugural lecture at the University of Amsterdam following 
his appointment as professor of Register Analyses of Life Course Dynamics. A month later Barry Schou-
ten was appointed by the Faculty of Social Sciences at Utrecht University as professor of Methods and 
Technologies, particularly mixed-mode survey designs.  

In April Marjolijn Das was appointed as professor of Urban Statistics at Erasmus University. On the basis 
of her role she is involved in the Leiden-Delft-Erasmus Centre for Big, Open and Linked Data (BOLD) Cit-
ies, which uses data research to contribute to solutions for urban issues. This includes the use of data 
sources and CBS expertise to carry out a better assessment of the life courses and family networks of city 
dwellers.  

On 24 November Wendy Smits gave her inaugural lecture at Maastricht University on The rise of flexible 
labour: Consequences for mankind, the organisation and society.  
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CBS continues to investigate the most appropriate ways to present data. In February 2017 CBS entered a 
partnership with the Business Intelligence and Smart Services Institute (BISS), an alliance bringing to-
gether the Open University, Maastricht University and Zuyd University of Applied Sciences. BISS and CBS 
are jointly investigating ways of visualising and exploring data as effectively as possible.  

In June 2017 CBS and the University of Groningen jointly launched the first Academic Data Centre.  

Also in June the fourth symposium took place in The Hague to mark the publication of Dutch labour mar-
ket dynamics. After an introduction by Paul de Beer of the University of Amsterdam, a number of au-
thors of the publication gave a commentary followed by a panel discussion on inequality in the labour 
market. 

 

2.3 Additional statistical research 

The law provides that the costs of performing CBS’ statutory tasks are paid from the government’s 
budget. In practice, this means that CBS receives a multi-annual contribution from the Ministry of Eco-
nomic Affairs and Climate Policy for its activities. This contribution constitutes CBS’ basic budget. The ac-
tivities financed from the basic budget constitute CBS’ basic programme. The basic programme consists 
of two components: statistics required by European legislation and additional statistics that are of im-
portance for practice, policy and academic purposes. Every year, the Director General of CBS draws up 
the basic programme.  

The vast majority (95 per cent) of the basic budget is devoted to compliance with EU obligations. These 
statistics encompass various domains and are used not only to support the formulation and monitoring 
of the European Union’s policies but also to address national policy issues in this field. CBS uses the re-
mainder of the basic budget to meet demand for additional statistics. The criteria for including statistics 
in the basic programme are: 1. the statistics are of great social value and are widely used; 2. the statistics 
constitute a building block of CBS’ data infrastructure; and 3. the statistics should preferably be compiled 
and published by CBS in the light of its position and capacity.  

The package of non-European statistics in the basic programme has declined in recent years due to tar-
gets that have been set. There was also little financial scope to respond to new demands. Consequently, 
the part of the basic programme comprising non-European statistics can only meet the additional de-
mand for statistics to a limited extent. The non-European statistics in the basic programme are widely 
used.   

An external consultation with more than sixty stakeholders revealed a deep and widely shared level of 
satisfaction with the content of the basic programme in 2018. However, the growing demand for data 
and statistics in various domains also led to requests for new statistics. The basic budget is insufficient to 
fully meet the demand for statistics, so users, usually ministries, increasingly provide direct funding for 
the statistics they need. These include larger, long-term statistical programmes, but also one-off surveys. 
Because CBS possesses extensive knowledge and a good infrastructure and has access to numerous data 
sources, it can supply these statistics on payment of the costs. Wherever possible, CBS concludes multi-
annual agreements on these statistical programmes to guarantee their continuity and coherence and to 
avoid gaps in time series that could never be remedied later. 

The results of the additional research are published on the CBS website and are therefore available to 
everyone. This section includes some examples of the additional research conducted. 
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Major progress was made in 2017 in the collaboration between CBS and local authorities with the open-
ing of CBS Urban Data Centers (UDCs). The UDCs bring municipalities and CBS together to gain insight 
into matters such as the effectiveness of their spending. At the end of 2017 there were eight UDCs in op-
eration (Eindhoven, Heerlen, Groningen, Venlo, Zwolle, Leidschendam-Voorburg, The Hague and Leiden), 
one Rural Data Centre (Kempen municipalities in Noord-Brabant) and one Euregional Data Centre. Prepa-
rations also began in 2017 for the opening of the Brightlands Provincial Data Centre Limburg at the be-
ginning of January 2018.  

In May CBS and the then Ministry of Economic Affairs launched the CBS/EZK Departmental Data Centre, 
the first Departmental Data Centre (DDC) within central government. The DDC links CBS’ knowledge of 
data analysis, data processing, data infrastructure and privacy to the Ministry’s quantitative policy issues.  

Since 2014, CBS has produced ‘The state of the SME’, a platform in the form of a website containing data 
on the role of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in the Dutch economy. The regular production 
of newly developed information was continued over the past year. This included data on turnover, em-
ployment trends, bankruptcies and exports. Work financed by the former Ministry of Economic Affairs 
was also carried out on the addition of the SME business cycle tracer.  

The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy is investing in improvements to the information posi-
tion for entrepreneurs. With regard to industry and regional information, CBS published the relevant out-
put for entrepreneurs, as in 2016, on ondernemersplein.nl, the website financed by the Ministry of Eco-
nomic Affairs and Climate Policy.  

With funding from the former Ministry of Economic Affairs (now the Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and 
Food Quality) the data from the agricultural census were supplemented with data from the annual tax 
returns of farmers and with quarterly data on VAT returns. This led to the availability not only of data on 
the financial situation in agriculture but also of up-to-date turnover figures.  

A new digital platform entitled Crime Illustrated was established jointly with the Research and Docu-
mentation Centre of the Ministry of Justice and Security, the Council for the Judiciary, the Public Prose-
cution Service and the National Police Corps. In March 2017 the main figures from the Security Monitor 
were added to this website and all figures and text from the Crime and Law Enforcement publication 
were added in October. The first edition of the Cybersecurity Monitor, which describes various phenom-
ena relating to cybersecurity, was also published in 2017. 

Family-owned enterprises can be monitored statistically from 2017. CBS developed a method enabling 
family-owned enterprises to be highlighted in the General Business Register (ABR). Links were then es-
tablished to other data sources to quantify trends relating to family-owned enterprises at aggregate 
level. In this context, a publication on the turnover of family-owned enterprises in 2015 was issued in 
April 2017. This also provided information on the number of enterprises, the added value generated, the 
number of jobs and their characteristics.  

May 2017 saw the publication of the fourth and final Sustainability Monitor for the Netherlands, follow-
ing the government’s request to CBS in 2017 to convert this monitor into an annual Monitor of Well-be-
ing. This was in response to the report published in 2016 entitled ‘Mapping Welfare’ of the Temporary 
Committee on a Broad Definition of Welfare. The first edition of the Monitor of Well-being will be pub-
lished in May 2018 for the accountability debate. The Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis, 
the Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency and the Netherlands Institute for Social Research are 
involved in establishing the new monitor and will align their Well-being Studies with it. 
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June 2017 saw the first publication concerning the Cohort Survey on Asylum Migration and Integration 
conducted by CBS. This survey was conducted in response to the large inflow of asylum migrants in 2014 
and 2015 and its consequences for Dutch society. This additional statistical research was funded by the 
Ministries of Justice and Security, Education, Culture and Science, Social Affairs and Employment, and 
Health, Welfare and Sport. The publication focuses particularly on the size, household composition, resi-
dence situation, family reunification, accommodation, socioeconomic position (employment or benefits), 
education, civic integration and crime. 

On the basis of external funding provided by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment at the end of 
2017, CBS published a new edition of the publication Dutch Society: Quality of life. In this two-yearly 
publication, CBS combines data on prosperity and well-being at personal level and illustrates quality of 
life across a range of population groups. 

The Netherlands Initiative for Education Research (NRO) asked CBS to play a central role in the imple-
mentation of the new National Cohort Survey on Education (NCO). This is the successor to the former 
school career surveys. Among other things this uses registration data (particularly education records) 
supplemented with relevant background characteristics. Work was carried out on the establishment of 
the NCO and an initial version of reports for schools was developed in 2017. 

In the course of 2017, an updated service was introduced at all institutions using CBS’ remote access fa-
cility. Fingerprint checks at login are being replaced by a personalised token and a text message code to 
verify the identity of the researcher. The new arrangements also enable researchers to work from home. 
A number of changes were also made to the checking of output for disclosure risks in 2017. 

With funding from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, work took place to improve price observations, in-
cluding rents, in the Caribbean Netherlands and Aruba. Advice was also given on improving the govern-
ment finance statistics.  

Research funded by the Ministry of Defence was conducted in order to compile a price index for the pur-
chase of military equipment. An appropriate method was developed and price indices covering a num-
ber of years were compiled. Discussions will take place with the Ministry on the continuation of the work 
in 2018. 

The trend in the number of self-employed workers was assessed, as was the online turnover of web 
stores. These statistics are financed by Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy. Particular atten-
tion was also devoted to the blurring of the boundaries between sectors and the sharing economy.  

CBS maintains a register of government entities for government finance statistics. The Ministry of the 
Interior and Kingdom Relations maintains a similar register for the implementation of the Executives' Pay 
(Standards) Act. Further cooperation with the Ministry was explored with a view to placing part of the 
register work within CBS. This collaboration will be further implemented in 2018. 

With the aid of an EU grant, a pilot module on spending, debt and wealth was incorporated in the man-
datory EU survey of income and living conditions (EU-SILC). CBS and De Nederlandsche Bank also started 
researching the possibilities of integrating the European Central Bank’s European Household Finance and 
Consumption Survey for the Netherlands with EU-SILC in 2017. 

On the basis of an EU grant, research was conducted into improvements in the method used to highlight 
the total value of sold homes. The focus was on improving the available information on new build 
homes. 
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Agreement was reached in the United Nations on the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) for the pe-
riod from 2015 to 2030. The agreement sets out 17 goals encompassing 169 specific targets for sustaina-
ble economic, social and environmental development. The goals range from eradicating poverty world-
wide to the availability of sustainable and affordable energy. An international framework comprising a 
coherent set of statistical economic, social and environmental indicators has been developed for meas-
uring and reporting on the progress made in achieving the goals.  

CBS will play a role in providing data by which to measure the indicators. A social consultation round 
took place in 2017 to gather additional indicators from other organisations, so that the data available to 
CBS can be supplemented. This will produce a more complete picture. An exploration was also made of 
how the SDGs could best be incorporated into the Monitor of Well-being. An assessment framework was 
produced to ascertain whether the externally available data fulfilled CBS’ quality requirements. The first 
report ‘Measuring SDGs: initial impressions for the Netherlands’ was published in 2016. An English ver-
sion was published in 2017 and work also took place on the second edition of the SDGs, which will be 
published in March 2018.  

The first edition of the Internationalisation Monitor published in the first quarter of 2017 concerned the 
dependence of Dutch business on the British economy. This was in connection with Brexit and its possi-
ble consequences. This monitor focuses on a specific theme each quarter. In addition to trade with the 
United Kingdom, the themes in 2017 included international trade in services, innovation and R&D and 
Dutch business in the international value chain. 

October saw the publication of a book financed by the National Coordinator for Groningen on develop-
ments in the housing market around the Groningen gas field. The book describes the extent to which 
there is a discrepancy between the development of the housing market in the area affected by earth-
quakes and other areas. 
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2.4 New European obligations in 2017 

EU statistics support the formulation of national policy but also the development, monitoring and evalu-
ation of EU policy with reliable, objective, comparable and coherent information. To do this, the Euro-
pean Commission drew up a statistical work programme for 2017. This programme was part of the Eu-
ropean statistical multi-annual programme for 2013-2017 and also largely determines the work pro-
gramme of CBS. 

The European statistics work programme for 2017 was in line with the priorities of the EU, in particular 
the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, which includes EU targets on em-
ployment, innovation, education, social cohesion, climate and energy. As in previous years, the European 
Commission had ambitious plans for 2017. The work programme included policy intensification in practi-
cally every area of statistics, such as economic and monetary policy, social policy, the internal market 
and sustainability.  

CBS carried out the following work in 2017 to meet the new EU obligations. 

1. Adjusting non-financial accounts to take account of seasonal effects; 

2. Developing an estimation method that from now on provides a picture of the number of hours 
worked in the public sector. Data on the number of hours worked in the public sector conse-
quently became available in 2017;  

3. Compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

 

2.5 Programme renewal 

The multi-annual programme (MJP) for 2014-2018 identifies three main themes for programme renewal: 
business developments, labour market flexibility and household wealth. Following implementation of the 
cutbacks made by the current government, there will be fewer than 10 FTEs available to perform this 
component of CBS’ activities. On the basis of these targets, a number of development activities were car-
ried out as additional statistical research and were funded by ministries. 

Developments in business 

CBS publishes monthly figures on retail internet sales. In view of the blurring of the distinction between 
physical and web stores, a publication was created on clothing sales from physical and web stores. Re-
search into the turnover of foreign, non-European web stores was also initiated in 2017. That research 
will be continued in 2018 and will be financed by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy. 

With funding from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy, research was also carried out into 
other relevant developments and innovations relating to online trade, such as the security of websites 
and the growth of the internet economy.  

The web publication Green growth was published in November 2017, replacing the two-yearly paper 
publication. The themes of Natural Resources and Economic Opportunities are described in the web pub-
lication and the other four themes are appearing in the spring of 2018. The included visualisation shows 
how the Netherlands scores nationally and internationally on each theme. Within the theme of green 
growth, additional indicators and more recent annual figures have been produced for the carbon foot-
print and material footprint. 
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Tables were compiled on employment dynamics in business in the context of internationalisation and 
globalisation. In the field of international enterprise and employment, time series were expanded to in-
clude information on innovation, R&D, investments and jobs. Tables were also compiled on the role of 
financial management based on innovation and the chain structure, and concerning foreign trade, differ-
entiated by control relationships.  

To answer the question of which core and supporting corporate activities have been relocated abroad, 
the dynamics of the roles played by Dutch companies in national and international value chains were 
identified. This highlighted the part of the value chain involved (employment, added value, R&D) and 
whether the locations where decisions were taken, such as a head office, were also relocated. These in-
ternationalisation and globalisation activities were possible thanks to a financial contribution from the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs.  

Labour market flexibility 

As part of the programme renewal for labour market flexibility the StatLine tables on self-employed 
workers were expanded further in 2017. A distinction was applied between self-employed workers who 
mainly supply products (such as farmers and retailers) and those who mainly supply their own labour. 
The statistic on the time employees in the flexible shell remain in a job in the form of inflow cohorts (all 
flexible staff who started work in the same period) was continued. Flexible employees were subdivided 
according to personal characteristics, business sector and region.  

This information can be used to monitor the employment security of employees with flexible contracts. 
New information also became available on the flow from the flexible shell to permanent employment, 
broken down by the employee’s educational level. The outflow to self-employment, unemployment with 
no benefits, and unemployment with benefits was identified at the same time. Finally, new information 
is now available on labour migration by origin, income position and duration of stay. A file on labour mar-
ket flexibility is maintained on the CBS website. 

Household wealth 

The picture of household wealth (such as investments, mortgage and non-mortgage debt) improved fur-
ther in 2017 through the use of new data sources. Wealth information contributes to a better descrip-
tion of the phenomenon of social inequality and the assessment of households' risks in terms of pensions 
and care.  

Further efforts were made to produce an improved and more complete set of wealth statistics, which 
can also be used for the section on household finances in the national accounts. The activities launched 
in 2016 with the aim of comprehensive observation of the level of non-mortgage household debt contin-
ued in 2017. This also applies to the work to determine the capital position and buffers of self-employed 
persons. 

Access to information at sub-provincial level 

CBS introduced data on innovation, research & development and international trade in services at re-
gional level in 2017. The possibilities of generating data on investment and taxation at regional level 
were explored. At the end of 2017 a StatLine table was published containing turnover data for each sec-
tor by COROP level (regional classification in accordance with the Regional Research Programme Coordi-
nation Committee). 

The demand from users for information at the regional and sub-regional level has increased greatly in 
recent years due to the delegation of central government tasks to the municipalities. CBS is meeting this 
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demand by providing more access to information at sub-regional level. In 2017 this once again led to an 
expansion of information on the various mapping levels (such as local authorities, districts, neighbour-
hoods, grid squares and land cover). The publication of multiple indicators in a regional context gives us-
ers a deeper and more factual understanding of the phenomena being examined. All this information is 
available on the new website CBSinuwBuurt.nl.  

 

2.6 Actual output 

Output 2017     

  

                          

    

Media re-

leases 

   StatLine ta-

bles 

  Publi-

ca-

tions 

  Eurostat 

deliveries 

  Microdata-

bases 

  Information  

(infoservice)** 

    

        

  

  

of 

which 

new 

  elec-

tronic* 

databases 

 

  Remote  

Access 

  by telephone 

(incl. answering 

machines) 

by e-mail (incl. 

letters and 

faxes) 

Twitter   

Theme quantity                              

Labour and social security 71   526 27   9   84   187   819 1,055    

Enterprises 62   201 7   3   33   76   448 518    

Population 33   278 16   27   8   53   807 894    

Construction and housing 33   215 11   2   28   32   148 253    

Financial and business services 12   53 0   1   14      20 62    

Health and well-being 31   180 14   11   6   85   423 616    

Trade, hotels and restaurants 31   89 0      20      147 196    

Manufacturing and energy 24   268 1   2   124   2   90 189    

Income and spending 40   85 9   3   9   54   288 607    

International trade 33   154 1   7   47   1   209 260    

Agriculture 20   101 4   2   74   4   125 171    

Macroeconomics 49   154 2      112      100 307    

Nature and the environment 7   57 0   2   7      56 141    

Education 15   173 14   10   12   54   163 214    

Government and politics 13   85 5   6      2   86 129    

Prices 34   113 0   5   92   11   3,926 1,703    

Security and justice 27   86 2   6   114   38   201 261    

Traffic and transport 38   148 6   8   98   2   142 236    

Leisure and culture 17   111 3   8   30      177 267    

People with a foreign back-

ground                  122 112    

The Dutch Caribbean     43 6                 

European Union                  87 145    

Netherlands regions    47 5   1         275 379    

Other  25    242 2   161    1   53   2,065 934 390   

Total 615    3,409 135   274   913   654   10,924 9,649 390   
 
*Publications have been issued electronically since 2016. CBS’ policy is that only ‘Etalageboekjes’ such as Trends in the Netherlands 
and certain publications which are fully financed externally are published in hard copy.   
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** With effect from 2017 amounts of information issued by answering machine are not included in the annual report. As a result, 
the 2017 figures are not readily comparable with those of 2016. Tweets are not broken down by subject. 
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3 Innovation and efficiency 
 

Lean Six Sigma, LOM, Scrum and Agile 

Lean Six Sigma projects were implemented at CBS in 2017 in order to further improve the control of op-
erating processes within CBS and increase efficiency. The use of Lean Operational Management (LOM) 
was further expanded during the reporting year. At the end of 2017 over half of employees were using 
LOM. In line with the objective, the introduction of LOM resulted in more efficient and more effective 
collaboration between employees. The use of the Scrum approach in information technology (IT) devel-
opment projects resulted in greater focus and better alignment between business and IT in 2017, leading 
to more useful results. In the autumn of 2017 CBS decided to deploy an Agile transition across the whole 
of CBS, since the further professionalisation of this Agile development approach and the associated roles 
and processes will allow a more effective response to changes.  

Center for Big data Statistics 

In the autumn of 2016, CBS established the Center for Big Data Statistics (CBDS) with the task of con-
ducting research into the potential of Big Data. The CBDS achieved substantial growth in 2017. It is in-
tended to accelerate existing statistics and provide up-to-date output at sub-regional level, with greater 
detail. The use of secondary sources also reduces the administrative burden. By combining as much data 
as possible, policy issues can be addressed more effectively, while the automated integration of data 
sources and flows can lead to efficiency improvements.  

The CBDS has added a large number of strategic partners to the existing CBS network of statistical agen-
cies, Eurostat, TNO, DNB, private operators, universities and universities of applied sciences. For the first 
time, it brings together national and international public authorities, enterprises, academics and the edu-
cation sector to explore the potential of technologies and methods that use Big Data for the production 
of statistics. Agreements were entered into on additional financial resources to support the CBDS in 
2017, including a five-year subsidy from the Province of Limburg. The CBDS worked on a wide range of 
themes in 2017, including health, mobility, transport and the labour market. Every two months or so 
products such as visualisations of traffic volumes and container shipping were published on the innova-
tion portal of the CBS website, with regular feedback being obtained from users. The CBDS provides an 
innovative environment for students and researchers from other organisations, among others. These 
products enable the CBDS to meets the needs of real-time indicators and add further detail to existing 
statistics. 

Other innovation and efficiency 

For the Consumer Price Index (CPI) work was carried out on new methods and techniques to classify 
large price databases and calculate price indices based on the wide range of data. The new methods and 
techniques have now been taken into production. Further development work was carried out on robot 
tools such as webscraping to collect price data on the internet.  

CBS investigated which new, standard statistics could potentially be developed with the aid of Automatic 
Identification System (AIS) data. The research took place as part of the European Big Data project based 
on AIS vessel tracking data. AIS is based on transponder technology and aims to increase the safety of 
maritime and inland shipping by means of interaction between vessels and with onshore authorities. The 
conclusion is that there is sufficient potential in the years ahead to gradually start using AIS data in com-
bination with and in addition to existing data sources. 
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Phoenix+, a large-scale programme for the adaptation of the data collection process, was launched in 
2015. The aim of the programme is to guarantee the continuity of data collection, increase the flexibility 
and user-friendliness of surveys for the respondents and improve the speed and efficiency of the pro-
cess. Observation via the internet (CAWI) and support for new observation methods (such as mobile te-
lephony) are important elements of this. The electronic observation chain completed in 2016 was further 
expanded in 2017 to include functionality to deliver collected data to departments that will then process 
this raw input data into statistical information. Processes and systems have also been taken into produc-
tion for the maintenance and consultation of observation-related contacts with external parties and the 
drafting and sending of letters and e-mails. At the end of 2017, the number of statistical surveys for 
which the observation had been configured in the new chain and transferred to production stood at 20 
(out of a total of 120 surveys to be transferred). The Phoenix+ programme was assessed by Bureau ICT-
Toetsing (BIT) in 2017. The resulting recommendations are focused particularly on obtaining even 
greater certainty on the budget and quality. CBS has taken these recommendations on board. 
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4 Operations, information security and risk management 
 

4.1 Human resources 

The workforce in figures 
At the end of 2017, CBS had 1,980 employees (1,784 FTEs). The average operational workforce de-
creased from 1,864 FTEs in 2016 to 1,816 in 2017. The workforce in each directorate is shown in table 
4.1. There were a number of movements in the workforce during the reporting year. The workforce de-
creased due to spending cuts under Prime Minister Rutte’s first government (Rutte I) and the Spring 
Agreement. On the other hand there was a rise due to the increase in the volume of additional statistical 
services, the conversion of external hires into employee appointments at CBS (particularly in IT) and pro-
cyclical recruitment to cover pending retirements. In many cases these new appointments were tempo-
rary. 

 

EBN Economic and Business Statistics and National Accounts      495                      
SER  Social and Spatial Statistics                                                     531 
DVZ Data collection                                                                     254 
BIM Corporate Services, IT and Methodology                      401                               
CCN CBS Communication and News                                                      73 
Others                                                                                                       62 
                                                                                             Total          1,816 

 

table 4.1. CBS workforce 2017 (FTEs) per chief directorate  

 
The average age of CBS employees at the end of 2017 was 50.3 years. At the end of 2017, 59.4 per cent 
of employees were aged 50 or over (see figure 4.1). In the 2016 reporting year, this proportion was 60.3 
per cent. 

 

figure 4.1: CBS workforce 2017 by age category (percentages) 
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At the end of 2017 the forecast was that 264 employees would leave CBS in the years 2018 to 2022 on 
reaching the state pension age (see figure 4.2).  

 

figure 4.2: expected outflow of CBS employees due to retirement (2018 to 2022) 

CBS will achieve part of the required spending cuts by means of this outflow in the years ahead. Another 
part of the outflow will be replaced and CBS will meet this requirement by maintaining a timely and rec-
ognisable presence in the labour market. This will include an active internship policy, a newly established 
trainee programme and close contacts with universities and universities of applied sciences. 

Working conditions 

CBS attaches great importance to promoting good working conditions for its staff. It aims to have lively 
and healthy employees who can be deployed sustainably now and in the future. A new agreement with 
the occupational health service and the company physiotherapy service was implemented in 2017. The 
self-management model is now established in the occupational health service, with an emphasis on what 
employees can do, rather than on their disability. Workshops for managers were organised on the sub-
jects of working conditions and healthcare or absence management and employability so as to share 
control and responsibility with employees when tackling absenteeism and the required interventions. A 
scheme was also introduced in 2017 enabling employees to join Bedrijfsfitness Nederland at a discount 
through a nationwide network of affiliated sports schools.  

Sickness absence in 2017 amounted to 4.1 per cent. In 2016 the figure was 4.3 per cent. The downward 
trend is therefore continuing. 

The Director General attaches great importance to constructive consultations with the Works Council. 
The following subjects were among those discussed in 2017 in formal and informal meetings with the 
Works Council and negotiations with the trades unions: the consequences of the efficiency targets im-
posed on CBS, the introduction of the new appraisal cycle, the development of a new remuneration pol-
icy, the amendment and updating of the complaints scheme, the introduction of the ombudsman 
scheme and agreements on the application of the irregular hours allowance. A number of reorganisa-
tions were also completed during the reporting year. These were the Corporate Services, IT and Method-
ology reorganisation, the Communication and News reorganisation and the Quality Assurance and Audit-
ing team reorganisation. 

 

59 
56 

53 

43 

53 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2017 – 30 March 2018                     

25 

 

Workforce development 

The shift in the structure of the workforce towards more highly qualified personnel is continuing as a re-
sult of the increase in the complexity and ongoing automation of the statistical processes. At the end of 
2017, 79 per cent of employees were on scale 9 or above (at least higher vocational). In 1995 this figure 
was 50 per cent (see figure 4.3).  

 

figure 4.3: CBS employees (%) by job grade in 1995, 2015 and 2017 

An organisation like CBS that is continuously evolving and becoming increasingly efficient makes high de-
mands on its workforce. CBS endeavours to maintain a nimble organisation and offer facilities for the re-
cruitment and retention of sufficient professional and motivated employees. With this in mind CBS fo-
cused on the following four themes in 2017:   

 Recruitment and employer branding.  

Recruitment was stepped up in 2017 to attract new, qualified personnel and reach talent in the labour 
market. Examples include an active internship policy, the organisation of hackathons for students, the 
establishment of a trainee programme and collaboration with partners.  

 Permanent employability and mobility.  

In order to keep employees permanently employable and motivate them to manage their own develop-
ment, they are offered support and tools on a specially established internal platform.  

 Talent development and leadership development.  

Organisational development starts with the continuous personal development of its employees. Manag-
ers have an important role to play in this process, not only in terms of providing practical coaching, but 
also by stimulating, inspiring and encouraging the employees in their personal development. A new man-
agement profile was drawn up in 2017 to serve as a basis for the further professionalisation of leadership 
development.  

 Performance management  

It is important for an organisation confronted with change to engage in an appropriate dialogue with em-
ployees about the need to deliver added value in pursuit of the formulated goals. In a new job appraisal 
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cycle to be introduced in 2017, managers and employees will explicitly discuss both job performance and 
personal development. New agreements have also been reached with the Works Council on a conscious 
remuneration policy that is more in line with the intended growth path at individual and team level. 

 

4.2 Corporate social responsibility 

Where possible, CBS encourages corporate social responsibility and focuses on sustainable operations. 
Buildings are heated and cooled using sustainable energy. The building in The Hague is heated entirely by 
means of thermal storage. In Heerlen the building is around 50 per cent heated and cooled sustainably 
using water from disused mines. As in previous years, CO2 emissions from the use of natural gas were 
fully offset by international Gold Standard certificates and only green electricity was used in 2017. Vari-
ous light fittings were replaced by low-energy LED fittings and the switching times of the lighting were 
adjusted to eliminate unnecessary lighting in the closed phase. Energy consumption has been reduced as 
a result of the energy conservation measures taken over the past few years. CBS aims to limit waste in 
favour of waste flows that are suitable for composting and/or reuse/recycling. The company restaurants 
have now been equipped with clearance/collection systems that are able to sort the waste. 

 

4.3 Information security, quality assurance and codes of conduct 
Information security  

CBS has substantial quantities of confidential data in its possession and data security is vital. People, en-
terprises and institutions that entrust their data to CBS must be able to rely on this information remain-
ing confidential. The Statistics Netherlands Act states that the data that CBS collects may only be used for 
statistical purposes. CBS has excellent technical and organisational facilities in place to secure these data. 
CBS also sets high standards for the quality of information security. CBS is therefore demonstrably com-
pliant with the Civil Service Information Security Baseline, a set of standards for general information se-
curity measures for all parts of operations relevant to information security. The Baseline is compliant 
with ISO standards 27001 and 27002 for information security. CBS was certified in accordance with ISO 
27001 in 2017. The standards of ISO 27002 are assessed in the annual privacy audits. 

Quality assurance 

CBS introduced quality management based on ISO 9001 in 2015 to improve its products, processes and 
services and to meet even better the needs and expectations of society, customers and other interested 
parties. The aim is to be ISO 9001 certified at CBS level by 2019. In this way, CBS is showing that it re-
gards quality management as very important and is furthermore acting on one of the recommendations 
of the peer review performed in 2015 in connection with the European Statistics Code of Practice, which 
reads, “Statistics Netherlands should take measures to embed more deeply its quality management 
throughout the organisation and consider also the adoption of recognised industry certification systems.” 

The certification of processes is confirmation that CBS makes active use of the plan-do-check-act (PDCA) 
cycle (a cycle of standards in quality management), that management measures are adequately antici-
pating risks and that systematic attention is devoted to continuous improvement. The number of pro-
cesses compliant with ISO 9001 was doubled in 2017 compared to 2016. 
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Codes of conduct 

CBS also complies with the European Statistics Code of Practice. The CBS Code of Conduct sets out how 
the principles of impartiality, reliability, relevance, efficiency, statistical confidentiality and transparency 
are important for society as a whole, for users of statistics, for parties which provide CBS with infor-
mation that underlies the statistics and for CBS employees themselves. 

In accordance with the CBS Board Regulations, a policy on integrity is set out in a Code of Conduct. CBS 
ensures that employees are able to report suspected irregularities or breaches of codes of conduct or 
legislation and regulations without jeopardising their legal position. CBS also has external and internal 
complaints procedures. These were used as follows in 2017: 

 CBS received a total of 54 external complaints in 2017. These complaints were all resolved – usually 
informally – to the satisfaction of the complainant and none led to a follow-up complaint to the Na-
tional Ombudsman. 

 The bulk of the objections received by CBS related to the exercise by CBS of its statutory enforcement 
powers. Three objections which had already been submitted in 2016 were adjudged to be unfounded 
in 2017 and 46 new objections were lodged. Fifteen of these new objections were handled informally, 
after which they were withdrawn in writing. Of the remaining 31 objections, 22 were deemed inad-
missible or unfounded and the other nine will be dealt with in 2018. No appeal was lodged in response 
to the decisions taken on objections in 2017.  

 In 2017 CBS received eight objections from staff members with regard to labour and public service 
law. Seven of these were dealt with in 2017 and none of these cases led to appeal proceedings at the 
administrative court. The remaining labour-related objection case will be dealt with in 2018.  

 One objection was lodged in 2017 against the rejection of a request under the Government Infor-
mation (Public Access) Act and the rejection of an access request under the Data Protection Act. This 
objection was declared unfounded and did not lead to appeal proceedings at the administrative court.  

 

4.4 Performance indicators 

CBS’ performance indicators are an important component within the CBS planning and control cycle. 
CBS’ objectives are enshrined in critical success factors and non-financial performance indicators and 
thus serve as an external accountability instrument and an internal management tool. Details of the non-
financial performance indicators and the associated scores are provided in table 4.2. 
 

table 4.2: CBS non-financial performance indicators 2013 - 2017 
Name and description Target for 2017 

 
2017 out-
turn 

2016 out-
turn 

2015 out-
turn 

2014 out-
turn 

2013 out-
turn 

Publication calendar – press re-
leases 

Proportion of press releases pub-
lished on the planned date. 

At least 90 per cent of the 
planned press releases 
were published on the 
scheduled publication date. 

100% 100% 100% 100% 99% 

Publication calendar – compulsory 
deliveries to Eurostat 

Proportion of deliveries to Eurostat 
made on the planned date. 

At least 90 per cent of the 
data deliveries to Eurostat 
took place on the scheduled 
date. 

98% 100% 97% 96% 91% 
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Name and description Target for 2017 
 

2017 out-
turn 

2016 out-
turn 

2015 out-
turn 

2014 out-
turn 

2013 out-
turn 

Number of formal corrections to 
publications 

Number of press releases corrected 
or replaced with another press re-
lease. 

A maximum of three press 
releases a year.  

2  

press re-
leases  

1 

press re-
lease 

1 

press re-
lease 

0 

press re-
leases 

0 

press re-
leases 

Discrepancies between provisional 
and definitive figures – economic 
growth 

The number of times the final quar-
terly economic growth figures for a 
year differ by more than 0.75 per-
centage points from the flash esti-
mates for the quarters of that year. 

The discrepancy for at least 
three quarters of a year is 
less than 0.75 of a percent-
age point. 

reference 
year 2014 

 

unsatis-
factory 

2 quar-
ters OK. 

reference 
year 2013 

 

unsatis-
factory 

2 quar-
ters OK. 

reference 
year 2012 

 

satisfac-
tory 

4 quar-
ters OK. 

reference 
year 2011 

 

satisfac-
tory 

4 quar-
ters OK. 

reference 
year 2010 

 

satisfac-
tory 

4 quar-
ters OK. 

Discrepancies between provisional 
and definitive figures – international 
trade 

The number of discrepancies of more 
than 4 per cent between the provi-
sional and definitive figures of the 
components of the six-week version 
of the monthly international trade 
figures. 

At least 80 per cent of the 
differences are less than 4 
per cent. 

reference 
year 2016 

 

90% 

reference 
year 2015 

 

90% 

reference 
year 2014 

 

100% 

reference 
year 2013 

 

100% 

reference 
year 2012 

 

96% 

Discrepancies between provisional 
and definitive figures – population 
growth 

Subindicator, annual figure: the ab-
solute discrepancy of the sum of the 
provisional monthly population 
growth figures from the definitive 
annual figure.  

Subindicator, monthly figures: the 
number of times the definitive popu-
lation growth figures for the months 
of the previous calendar year differs 
by more than 4,000 from the provi-
sional figures. 

Accumulated over 12 
months, the discrepancy 
must be no greater than 
16,000. 

 

For at least eight of the 12 
months, the discrepancy in 
the monthly figure is less 
than 4,000. 

reference 
year 2016 

 

satisfac-
tory 

annual 
total:   
8,183               

all 
months 
discrep-

ancy 
<4,000 

reference 
year 2015  

 

satisfac-
tory 

annual 
total:     
929; 
all 

months 
discrep-

ancy 
<4,000  

reference 
year 2014  

 

satisfac-
tory 

annual 
total: 
1,420; 

all 
months 
discrep-

ancy 
<4,000 

reference 
year 2013  

 

satisfac-
tory 

annual 
total: 

1,514; all 
months 
discrep-

ancy 
<4,000 

reference 
year 2012  

 

satisfac-
tory 

annual 
total: 

1,550; all 
months 
discrep-

ancy 
<4,000 

Reduction of response burden 

The outcome of the annual response 
burden measurement with the ‘Re-
sponse Burden Meter’ (HEDM). 

The response burden for 
the business sector must be 
no greater in 2014 than in 
2013 and will be reduced as 
much as possible in line 
with the reduction target 
for 2015 of between 20 per 
cent and 30 per cent (refer-
ence year 2009). 

satisfac-
tory 

Definitive 
figure 

(HEDM) 
for 2016:  
€15 mil-

lion 

satisfac-
tory 

Definitive 
figure 

(HEDM) 
for 2015:  
€15 mil-

lion 

satisfac-
tory 

Definitive 
figure 

(HEDM) 
for 2014:  
€19 mil-

lion 

satisfac-
tory 

Definitive 
figure 

(HEDM) 
for 2013: 
€21 mil-

lion 

satisfac-
tory 
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Two performance indicators in table 4.2 are explained in greater detail below: 
 
 Discrepancies between provisional and definitive figures – economic growth 

The ‘Discrepancies between provisional and final figures – economic growth’ performance indicator re-
lates to the estimate of growth in gross domestic product (GDP). The standard is that the discrepancy 
between the first estimate of GDP growth for a quarter (45 days after the end of the quarter) and the 
final estimate for that quarter (two and a half years after the end of the reporting year) is less than 0.75 
percentage points for at least three quarters of a year.  

With regard to the 2014 reporting year, as in the case of the 2013 reporting year, CBS was found not to 
have complied with performance indicator 3.1 for adjustments to GDP. As a follow-up to the 2015 action 
plan to reduce the discrepancy between the flash estimate and the regular quarterly estimate, imple-
mentation of a new action plan started in 2017. That plan is designed in particular to reduce the discrep-
ancies between quarterly estimates and annual estimates. Implementation of this plan will continue in 
2018.  

The work in 2017 included a decomposition analysis in which the adjustments in each sector and ex-
penditure category were broken down into a number of causes, allowing subsequent work to eliminate 
the main causes. Work also was carried out on the development of so-called structural time series mod-
els for financial institutions and healthcare, two sectors for which little or no source information is yet 
available in the flash estimate.  

 Reduction in the response burden for enterprises 

One of the performance indicators is the administrative burden. As far as possible, CBS obtains the basic 
information it needs to produce reliable and coherent statistical information from existing records. These 
records are not always sufficient, however, so further surveys continue to be necessary.  

CBS collects data in such a way as to keep the administrative burden for enterprises and institutions to a 
minimum. Considerable progress has been made in terms of the actual and perceived administrative bur-
den in recent years, as the business sector has also observed. The administrative burden caused by CBS is 
among the lowest in Europe, compared to other national statistical agencies, and represents 0.25 per 
cent of the total burden resulting from central government. Nevertheless, CBS continues to devote con-
stant attention to the actual and perceived administrative burden, always balancing the response burden 
against the absolute necessity of guaranteeing the reliability of the data.  

The burden in 2016 amounted to €15 million and in nominal terms remained the same as in 2015. In 
some areas the burden rose slightly. This was due in particular to the necessary reduction in the observa-
tion threshold for imports and exports in order to maintain compliance with the trade coverage require-
ments specified in the European regulation amid the rise in the total value of trade of the exempt enter-
prises.  

Enterprises and their representatives are closely involved in efforts to simplify and modernise the ques-
tionnaires used by CBS with a view to continued monitoring of the response burden. CBS will also con-
tinue to search for new and improved sources, which allow it to use records in combination with esti-
mates generated by models. Further work will also be carried out on the use of websites as a source of 
data. During the reporting year the Center for Big Data Statistics (CBDS) conducted a pilot on innovative 
measures to further reduce the administrative burden. This study is being continued in 2018, including in 
the vacancy statistics, with the survey of business respondents being discontinued entirely. 
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The expectation, however, is that with all the recent burden-reducing measures CBS has more or less 
achieved the minimum burden. A further reduction in the response burden will have negative conse-
quences, in the shape of less coherent information, less accurate figures and larger revisions. CBS still 
needs information from enterprises in order to continue producing high-quality statistics. CBS continues 
to work closely with the Business Respondents’ Board, which includes representatives of enterprises 
and industry organisations. 

 

4.5 External accounting model (statistics costs) 

The CBS accounting model allocates the total full cost for 2017 to CBS’ statistical activities. These costs 
amount to a total of €190.2 million (excluding the €1.1 million allocation to the reorganisation provi-
sions). 

A summary of the 2017 costs is provided in table 4.3. A distinction is drawn here between the cost of the 
standard programme (paid from the basic budget of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy) 
and the costs of additional statistical services. The costs of additional statistical services are based on the 
total full cost charged by CBS.  

table 4.3: Cost of the CBS standard programme and costs of Additional statistical services  
(2016 and 2017) 

Costs per statistical group (thousands of euros) 

Standard  
pro-

gramme 
2017  

paid from 
basic 

budget of 
Ministry of 

Economic 
Affairs and 

Climate 
Policy 

Additional 
statistical 

services 
and other 

revenue 
2017 

Total  
costs 
2017 

Standard  
programme 

2016  
paid from 

basic 
budget of 

Ministry of 
Economic 

Affairs and 
Climate 

Policy 

Addi-
tional 

statistical 
services 

and other 
revenue 

2016 

Total  
costs 
2016 

Labour, Income and Living conditions 10,041 3,443 13,484 11,507 2,625 14,132 

Business statistics 29,139 3,222 32,361 32,674 1,671 34,345 

Data collection 35,690 7,587 43,277 38,078 5,165 43,243 

Demographic and socioeconomic statistics 8,696 3,696 12,392 10,963 2,953 13,917 

Services and provision of information 2,242 5,631 7,873 1,001 5,472 6,473 

Environmental 9,099 2,967 12,066 10,985 2,062 13,046 

National accounts 15,480 1,499 16,979 14,343 1,105 15,448 

Government finances and Consumer prices 13,346 760 14,106 12,403 673 13,076 

Quaternary sector 7,857 3,695 11,552 10,778 2,720 13,498 

Corporate register 7,395 44 7,439 6,854 155 7,009 

Traffic and transport 4,592 427 5,019 5,473 252 5,725 

Other statistical groups 0 2,840 2,840 0 1,316 1,316 

              

Blaise 0 3,400 3,400 0 3,360 3,360 

Presentation of CBS figures 7,362 0 7,362 7,051 0 7,051 

Totals 150,939 39,211 190,150 162,111 29,528 191,639 
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Table 4.3 shows that the cost of the standard programme (paid from the basic budget of the Ministry of 
Economic Affairs and Climate Policy) in 2017 amounted to €150.9 million. Of this, €144.9 million was re-
quired to meet European statistical obligations. €6 million was spent on other statistics for which there is 
a national requirement (as set out in the 2014-2018 multi-annual programme). The cost of additional sta-
tistical services in 2017 amounted to €39.2 million. 

Table 4.4 shows CBS’ financial indicators in the period from 2009 to 2017. Table 4.4 shows that the sta-
tistical annual programme remained constant between 2009 and 2013. From 2014, statistics amounting 
to €4 million were reduced, discontinued or financed by the user of the statistics as a result of the tar-
gets imposed. The budget of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy for regular non-manda-
tory statistics decreased further by €7 million in 2017. The majority of these statistics are funded by the 
ministries that use them. On the other hand, new EU obligations came into force. Labour costs decreased 
during the period from 2009 to 2017 due to lower staff numbers.  

table 4.4: financial indicators of CBS in the period from 2009 to 2017 

 Year: 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

(amounts in € millions)                   

Wages and salaries 113.0 112.9 110.0 106.8 104.4  101.7 103.7 111.0 111.3 

Pension charges and social security contributions 25.1 26.0 26.2 27.7 28.5  28.1 26.4 28.4 29.7 

Hired personnel 16.0 15.6 11.8 11.0 11.7  8.5 12.1 9.6 7.9 

Other operating expenses 41.0 39.0 39.3 39.1 39.4  36.9 39.2 36.7 35.5 

Depreciation charges 9.4 12.5 9.1 9.3 9.3  7.4 6.4 5.9 5.8 

Total costs  204,5 206.0 196.4 193.9 193.3 182.6 187.8 191.6 190.2 

Additional statistical services and other revenue -17.9 -21.4 -22.0 -25.0 -22.3  -22.9 -27.3 -29.5 -39.2 
Cost of standard programme (paid from basic budget 
of Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy) 186.6 184.6 174.4 168.9 171.0 159.7 160.5 162.1 151.0 
                    
Cost of standard programme excluding changes 2009-
2017 184.9 182.2 170.1 164.6 163.9 156.5 156.2 157.5 153.3 

Additional EU obligations from 2009 1.7 2.4 4.3 4.3 7.1  7.2 8.3 8.6 8.7 

Reduction in non-mandatory statistics 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  -4.0 -4.0 -4.0 -11.0 
Cost of standard programme including changes 2009-
2017 186.6 184.6 174.4 168.9 171.0 159.7 160.5 162.1 151.0 
                    

Price rise compared to previous year   3.80% 0.30% 0.60% 2.00% 0.60% 1.60% 4.00% 2.00% 
                    
Cost of standard programme including changes 
2009-2017 corrected for price rises 184.9 175.5 163.4 157.2 153.4 145.6 143.1 138.7 132.3 
                    

Average number of FTEs 2,140 2,059 1,964 1,875 1,833 1,777 1,780 1,864 1,816 

Labour costs per FTE x €1,000 64.5 67.5 69.3 71.7 72.5 73.0 73.1 74.8 77.6 

Labour costs per employee rose in the period from 2009 to 2017 as a result of collective labour agree-
ments and higher pension contributions. Other operating expenses decreased in the period from 2009 to 
2017 due to the policy of restraint and further retrenchment. The net total cost of the standard pro-
gramme (paid from the basic budget of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy) in the period 
from 2009 to 2017 decreased from €184.9 million in 2009 to €153.3 million in 2017. Adjusted for wage 
and price rises (total approximately 15 per cent over the 2009-2017 period), total costs decreased to 
€132.3 million in 2017. The ratio of output to costs is shown in figure 4.4. 
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figure 4.4: Ratio of output to costs of CBS (period 2009 to 2017) 
 

4.6 Financial outlook 

The financial frameworks resulting from the targets of prime minister Rutte’s second government be-
came clear in mid-July 2017. CBS received a contribution of €12 million from the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Climate Policy in 2017 to strengthen its equity. This contribution is being paid in tranches 
equivalent to the remaining tranches specified in the targets of the second Rutte government (‘Rutte II’), 
i.e. €4 million in 2016, €2 million in 2017, €4 million in 2018 and €2 million in 2019. After 2019 CBS will 
be required to meet the remainder of the Rutte II targets itself within its budget. The annual contribution 
to CBS from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy will also be reduced by €2 million for a 
period of six years from 2021 to 2026. The new coalition agreement under Prime Minister Rutte’s third 
government has imposed no new targets on autonomous administrative authorities. 

The spending cuts will be implemented in part through a reduction in the programme from 2017. Since 
most of the statistical programme arises from EU obligations which leave no room for savings, the reduc-
tions have affected statistics that are not required by the EU. In 2016, CBS approached the relevant min-
istries to seek alternative financing for those statistics. As a result, CBS will be able to continue to provide 
most of the non-mandatory statistics. A small part of the non-mandatory programme was terminated on 
1 January 2017. An additional saving will also be achieved in 2018 and subsequent years as a result of a 
further increase in efficiency and cuts in the materials budget. 

As a result of the above, equity has decreased in recent years, reaching zero at the end of 2017. This was 
largely forecast in the financial long-term outlook in the MJP. In order to absorb the spending cuts under 
Prime Minister Rutte’s first and second governments and the Spring Agreement (total of over €54 mil-
lion) and unforeseen developments in addition to the MJP (incomplete compensation for pension contri-
butions and redundancy costs), equity will be slightly negative in the years 2018 to 2021. The Ministry of 
Economic Affairs and Climate Policy has granted CBS permission to budget for slightly negative equity for 
those years. No liquidity problems are anticipated. The expected developments in terms of equity, result 
and cash and cash equivalents are shown in figure 4.5. 
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figure 4.5: expected developments in CBS result, equity, cash and cash equivalents (2018 to 2023) 
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4.7 In control statement 

 

Introduction 

The management system of CBS is a vital part of its operations. It supports the management in achieving 
the specified goals. The design and operation of the management system are reviewed periodically. CBS 
also regards the Semi-public Sector Management Handbook (Handreiking Sturing Semipublieke Sector) 
and the Financial management and supervision standards framework (Normenkader financieel beheer en 
toezicht) as significant criteria for CBS being in control. The key elements explained below are: Strategic 
planning process; Risk management; Internal controls and a proper planning and control system; Gov-
ernance system; In control statement. 

Strategic planning process 

The strategic planning process is an essential part of the management system. Strategy is developed in a 
multi-annual programme (MJP) in accordance with Section 14 of the Statistics Netherlands Act. The MJP 
outlines the work that CBS will carry out in the coming years and defines the medium and long-term tar-
gets, the main points of the related policy and the financial and organisational conditions that have to be 
met. CBS submitted the 2019-2023 multi-annual programme, including the opinion of the Advisory Coun-
cil, to the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy in December 2017.  

In order to manage all activities internally and to achieve the long-term targets, CBS’ strategic agenda 
was recalibrated within CBS after consultation with staff and users. The multi-annual programme is being 
translated into annual work programmes setting out which activities CBS will carry out in a particular 
year within the specified annual budget. The directorates’ annual plans then set out how the various di-
rectorates will contribute to achieving the CBS work programme.  

Risk management 

CBS wishes to have a view of the risks that may impede the achievement of these targets. Risk manage-
ment is designed to manage or reduce risks that threaten CBS’ targets. As part of the risk management 
process, risks are regularly reviewed and recalibrated, with particular attention devoted to their relation-
ship with the multi-annual programme.  

CBS’ risks fall into four categories: strategic risks, financial risks, compliance risks and operational risks. 
Appropriate measures have been and will be taken in line with the risk analysis. CBS has also determined 
its risk appetite and specified when risks are no longer deemed acceptable. The main remaining risks are 
set out below. 

Strategic risks 

An important precondition for a sound statistical process and reliable operations is the continuity of the 
IT infrastructure. As in the period of the previous multi-annual programme, the basic budget leaves little 
room for important changes to the IT landscape that are needed to avoid risks to continuity and quality. 
This will require a careful assessment of the costs and benefits of IT and process redesign projects.  

Various important investments in this area will therefore have to be deferred. For example, replacement 
projects will not start and the scope of other projects will be reduced or the projects will be delayed. The 
ultimate effect of this is that systems will become even more outdated. Many of them have been up-
graded time and again over many years to meet the continually changing circumstances. This threatens 



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2017 – 30 March 2018                     

35 

the continuity of statistics production and creates risks in terms of the costs of managing these sys-
tems. Those risks can be mitigated as far as possible by closely monitoring the performance of systems.  

New sources of data (including Big Data), new methods and new technology for the data infrastructure 
and automated processing systems will be required in order to achieve greater efficiency. Besides im-
proving efficiency, these investments will also yield benefits in the form of new output, greater flexibility 
and better service for users and for persons and businesses that supply data to CBS. Deferring invest-
ments in IT will lead to delays in realising these benefits, thus creating the risk that planned efficiency 
gains will not be achieved.  

CBS will carefully set priorities at central level, with precedence being given to projects that are essential 
for the continuity of the statistical processes and for managing risks or which make an important contri-
bution to improving efficiency. Priority is being given to modifications to the data collection process 
(Phoenix).  

Financial risks 

In the period from 2012, the contribution CBS received from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Cli-
mate Policy to carry out its basic programme fell sharply. Due to the successive targets of Prime Minister 
Rutte’s first two governments and the Spring Agreement, the basic budget declined by €50 million in that 
period, equivalent to more than 25 per cent of the original budget of €188 million in 2011.  

CBS has achieved the targets that were set with a series of efficiency measures and by hiving off part of 
the output. In order to achieve this, CBS has employed efficient methods and working processes to 
achieve the same results with fewer resources. This involves the organisation-wide introduction of Lean 
Six Sigma. This is a method in which small-scale improvements are made in order to achieve a more 
structured approach to efficiency and gain tighter control of processes.  

Lean Operational Management (LOM) was also rolled out across the whole of CBS during the reporting 
year. This is a working method designed to lower the threshold in resolving process bottlenecks with 
teams of employees so that critical performance indicators can be achieved and enhanced.  

Finally, Scrum and Agile techniques are also used in the implementation of IT projects. These are flexible 
methods of delivering operational products with a multidisciplinary team working in short sprints of a 
fixed length of one to four weeks. These techniques are starting to bear fruit within CBS in order to gen-
erate the highest possible return on the available capacity. They have led to a structural reduction in the 
costs, including on the completion of a number of major redesigns. 

Because of the lead time of the efficiency projects, the 2014-2018 multi-annual programme proposed 
meeting the cost from the accrued equity. However, the 2014-2018 MJP made no provision for the tar-
gets of the second Rutte government and CBS has also suffered a number of other setbacks in the last 
few years. CBS has therefore taken additional measures. Material expenditures and the costs of employ-
ees’ fringe benefits have been reduced. The remainder of the savings were achieved by postponing or 
cancelling necessary investments in the IT infrastructure and through reductions in the statistics pro-
gramme.  

Since the vast majority of the basic programme comprises EU obligations, CBS had to make those reduc-
tions by modifying the part of the basic programme not devoted to mandatory European statistics. Con-
sequently, in 2014 and 2017 the production of some statistics was terminated and the frequency or scale 
of others was reduced. Some of those statistics could eventually be saved because ministries decided, in 
view of the importance of the information to them, to pay for the statistics outside the basic budget.  
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CBS received an additional contribution of €12 million from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate 
Policy in 2017 to strengthen its equity. This contribution is being paid in tranches equivalent to the re-
maining tranches specified in the targets of the second Rutte government (‘Rutte II’), i.e. €4 million in 
2016, €2 million in 2017, €4 million in 2018 and €2 million in 2019. After 2019, CBS will be required to 
meet the remainder of the Rutte II targets (€4 million) itself within its budget. The annual contribution to 
CBS from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy will also be reduced by €2 million for a pe-
riod of six years from 2021 to 2026.  

CBS has obtained written consent from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy to budget for 
slightly negative equity up to a maximum of around €5 million. Positive results are expected again after 
2018. Equity is expected to turn positive again at the end of the new multi-annual programme period 
from 2019 to 2023. On the basis of the current estimates, liquidity is expected to remain positive despite 
the expected negative equity. CBS also has an additional €10 million credit facility. 

The new coalition agreement under Prime Minister Rutte’s third government has imposed no new tar-
gets on autonomous administrative authorities. Any reduction of the budget during the 2019-2023 plan-
ning period can only be absorbed in part by making changes in the multi-annual programme or by find-
ing alternative financing for some of the statistics in the basic programme. Less than full compensation 
for wage increases agreed in collective labour agreements, pension costs or price rises can also not be 
absorbed without consequences for the statistical programme. In that event, CBS will consult the Minis-
try of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy to come to appropriate solutions. 

Compliance risks 

Information security  

The internal monitoring of the protection of personal and business data is performed primarily by the 
line management. CBS has also appointed a data protection officer (DPO) and a security officer (SO). 
These two officials have a supervisory and an advisory role.  

The data protection officer supervises compliance with the Data Protection Act and from May 2018 with 
the new European General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). This supervision results in part from the 
Data Protection Act (and later in 2018 the GDPR) and the Statistics Netherlands Act. CBS staff are re-
quired to report the use of personal data to the DPO in advance. The latter will carry out the necessary 
checks and place the notification in the notification register of CBS.  

The security officer advises management on specific measures to improve information security and as-
sures CBS’ continuous compliance with relevant legislation. CBS sets high internal standards for the qual-
ity of information security.  

Two objectives have also been formulated in relation to privacy protection and information security.  

The first objective is that from 2017 CBS must achieve compliance with the Civil Service Information Se-
curity Baseline (BIR) and the European Statistical System (ESS) IT security framework. The BIR contains all 
the standards of ISO 27001 and ISO 27002 and gives instructions for the measures to comply with those 
standards (according to the comply or explain principle). The ESS IT security framework contains a subset 
of the ISO 27001 and ISO 27002 standards. By complying with ISO 27001 and ISO 27002 demonstrably at 
all times, CBS shows that it is in control with regard to information security.  

Secondly, it is CBS’ stated ambition to be entirely privacy-proof by the spring of 2018. A major step to-
wards this ambition was taken in 2017, when all statistical processes and a number of operating pro-
cesses were awarded the ‘privacy proof’ quality mark.  
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ISO 9001 certification guarantees the quality of all the primary processes and the secondary processes of 
methodology and information technology. The necessary preparations are being made in the 2014-2018 
period in order to become fully ISO 9001 certified in 2019. As part of the PDCA (Plan-Do-Check-Act) cycle 
for ISO certification, processes are subjected to internal audits.  

The quality of the CBS figures is also reviewed in other areas. Some statistical processes are validated by 
external experts, for example the determination of the government deficit as a percentage of gross do-
mestic product. As part of the agreements made within the European Union in relation to the Stability 
and Growth Pact to safeguard the stability of the European Monetary Union, every two years the Euro-
pean Commission arranges a dialogue visit to assess CBS’ methods, processes, revision policy, etc. CBS is 
also subject to the continuous gross national income (GNI) verification process conducted by the Euro-
pean Commission.  

Every year Eurostat requests various reports on the quality of the European statistics. These reports 
contain information on a large number of variables relating to a diverse set of quality criteria with re-
spect to completeness (relevance), accuracy, reliability, timeliness, accessibility, transparency, coherence 
and comparability. The quality reports also include a separate section with information on the revision 
policy, metadata, publication methods and sources, and the length and composition of the time series. 

Operational risks 

Because of the anticipated natural staff turnover as employees reach retirement age in the coming 
years, CBS faces the major challenge of recruiting new staff members with the right qualifications. This 
challenge is particularly great in relation to IT staff because the labour market for IT specialists is tight at 
the moment and will probably remain so. Consequently, the competences required to carry out the sta-
tistical programmes could be in short supply.  

A smart and targeted recruitment strategy is in place to attract new employees at an early stage by of-
fering internships, graduation projects and traineeships for IT specialists, data scientists and statisticians.  

CBS also invests in order to improve the competences of existing staff members and match them with 
the required knowledge and skills. An annual staff survey provides insight into the potential of the exist-
ing personnel and allows for flexible deployment of the staff, which in turn means that internal talent 
can be used to the best effect.  

Arrangements will be made early on with employees who leave CBS to pass on and document their 
knowledge. In addition, training budgets will be used efficiently by getting those who have already been 
trained to pass on their new knowledge to others. For example, employees who have been trained to the 
level of Lean Six Sigma Black Belts will provide internal training for Green Belts and Orange Belts. New 
developments in CBS in the area of Big Data research and new observation techniques will be used to 
enhance CBS’ profile as an attractive employer for IT personnel. 

Internal controls and a proper planning and control system 

The powers of the directors and sector managers are set out in the Statistics Netherlands Mandate, Au-
thorisation and Empowerment Decree. This includes the maximum amounts that directors can sign for 
in contracts and their authority in respect of staff matters.  

The BISNIS corporate information system supports CBS in meeting its legitimacy requirements. The relia-
bility and continuity of automated data processing is important in this regard. In addition, segregation of 
duties and internal controls are built into the system, which is in line with the organisation structure and 
authorities. 
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The Director General of CBS enters into individual management contracts with all heads of directorates. 
The management contract lists the head of the directorate’s responsibilities, including the performance 
of duties within the agreed budget and reporting on bottlenecks, variances and the achievement of the 
agreed output. Interim reporting on progress and subsequent reports on the actual performance deliv-
ered are in the form of quarterly reports which include performance indicators.  

The performance indicators were reviewed and recalibrated in 2017. Closing procedures are embedded 
in the organisation for the quarterly reports. In addition to the quarterly reports, monthly financial re-
ports are prepared at CBS, directorate and sector level, showing the achievement of the budget and a 
forecast. 

CBS manages projects with a major IT component centrally. The central portfolio council chaired by the 
Deputy Director General in his role of Chief Information Officer (CIO) advises the Director General of CBS 
on the allocation of resources to projects. The final adoption of the development portfolios and budgets 
is done by the Director General of CBS. The aim is to coordinate the large number of wishes for capacity 
and resources by central management. The content and reservations in the Long-term Development 
Portfolio are recalibrated four times a year. The heads of directorates are responsible for carrying out 
the development projects and progress is monitored by the CIO. Major projects are reported to the Bu-
reau ICT-Toetsing (BIT) for a possible audit. 

Governance system 

The main structure of CBS consists of the Director General, the Deputy Director General, the heads of 
directorates for statistics, corporate services, data collection, communications and the head of the policy 
staff. Notwithstanding his position in the CBS organisation, the group controller can report directly to the 
Director General. The Director General holds weekly meetings with the board of directors to perform his 
statutory duties, exercise his authority and manage day-to-day operations. The board of directors dis-
cusses matters that cross individual directorates’ boundaries. These include policy development, strat-
egy, communications, quality and the statistical programme. 

The checks and balances on the actions of the Director General are based mainly on the Statistics Neth-
erlands Act, the Autonomous Administrative Authorities Framework Act and CBS Board Regulations. Su-
pervision by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy is based on a working arrangements pro-
tocol between the Ministry and CBS. These management agreements were updated in 2017. Up to the 
end of 2016, management and supervision were also conducted by the Central Commission for Statistics 
(CCS). On 1 January 2017, a change in the law took effect abolishing the CCS as an autonomous adminis-
trative body and establishing an Advisory Council.  

As well as the statutory checks and balances, there are a number of additional control mechanisms in 
force, such as the annual audit (which includes reliance on the internal risk management and control sys-
tems), supervision of data protection by the Dutch Data Protection Authority, international audits on 
the quality of statistics, and Eurostat’s periodic peer review. 

In control statement 

The Director General of CBS is responsible for the internal risk management and control systems tailored 
to CBS. These systems are designed to manage significant risks and ensure that strategic, compliance, 
financial and operational risks are properly managed. The Director General of Statistics Netherlands con-
siders that the risk management and control systems have been properly implemented in accordance 
with elements in the Normenkader financieel beheer en toezicht (Financial management and supervision 
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standards framework) and provide adequate assurance that the quality of operations is sufficient and 
that financial reporting meets the requirements placed upon it. 
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5 Governance  
5.1 Tasks of the Advisory Council 

On 1 January 2017, amended legislation came into force under which the CCS ceased to be an autono-
mous administrative body and an Advisory Council was set up. The CBS Board Regulations approved by 
the Minister also came into force on 1 January 2017. These included arrangements with regard to the 
Advisory Council.  

One of the tasks of the Advisory Council is to provide the Director General with solicited and unsolicited 
advice about the performance of his tasks and the exercise of his powers. Subjects on which the Advisory 
Council will advise the Director General in any case include: 

 CBS’ multi-annual programme and work programme; 
 Measures that can be taken to improve the accuracy and completeness of the statistics to be pub-

lished on behalf of the government so that they meet the needs of professionals, policymakers and 
academics; 

 CBS’ operations and efficient use of resources. 

When the position of the Director General becomes vacant, the Advisory Council will draw up a profile, 
select candidates on the basis of a procedure that is transparent and based exclusively on professional 
criteria, and make a recommendation to the Minister.  

The Advisory Council can appoint committees, from among its members but also including persons other 
than members of the advisory board, to prepare advisory reports. Advisory reports will be adopted by 
the Advisory Council. The advisory committees will be chaired by a member of the Advisory Council. The 
Advisory Council will appoint at least the following committees: 

 an Audit Committee, which will prepare the advisory reports for the Director General concerning op-
erations, including the financial reporting and risk management policy; 

 an IT committee, which will prepare the advisory reports for the Director General concerning CBS’ 
strategy and policy in relation to information protection and IT and their implementation; 

 a programme council, which will prepare the advisory reports for the Director General concerning 
the multi-annual programme, the work programme and measures to promote the accuracy and 
completeness of the statistical programme.  
 

5.2 Composition of the Advisory Council 

In accordance with the Statistics Netherlands Act, Advisory Council members are appointed by the Minis-
ter. Members of subcommittees are appointed by the Director General. In accordance with the Statistics 
Netherlands Regulations of the Board, the Director General sets financial compensation of the council 
members. 

With a view to ensuring continuity, the members of the Central Commission for Statistics were asked to 
join the Advisory Council and/or the Audit Committee, the ICT committee or the programme committee. 
These members have been appointed for a term equal to the remaining period of their CCS membership. 
If they have not yet been reappointed as CCS members, these members may be reappointed once for a 
term of four years. 
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The CBS website2 details the main and secondary positions of the members of the Advisory Council and 
its subcommittees. It also shows the members’ terms of office3. 

The members of the Advisory Council at the end of 2017 were: 

 I. (Inge) Brakman (chair of the Advisory Council) 
 J. (Johan) van Hall (deputy chair of the Advisory Council, chair of the ICT Committee) 
 C.C.M. (Kees) Vendrik (chair of the Programme Committee) 
 Prof. F. (Frans) van der Wel (chair of the Audit Committee) 
 C.M. (Corien) Wortmann-Kool 

Ms Brakman’s statutory term of office ends on 1 January 2018. She will be succeeded by Mr G. (Gerrit) 
Zalm as chair of the Advisory Council.  

The members of the Audit Committee are 

 Prof. F. (Frans) van der Wel (chair) 
 C.M. (Charlotte) Insinger MBA  
 P.J.C.M. (Peter) van den Berg 

The ICT Committee comprises   

 J. (Johan) van Hall (chair) 
 C.M. (Tini) Hooymans 
 F.K. (Karel) van Lambalgen  
 Prof. B. (Bibi) van den Berg  

At the end of 2017, the Programme Committee comprised  

 C.C.M. (Kees) Vendrik (chair)  
 Prof. S. (Steven) Brakman 

As of 1 January 2018 A.M.A.E. (Anne-Marie) Rakhorst and Prof. L. (Liesbet) van Zoonen were appointed 
as members of the Programme Committee. 

 

5.3 Advisory Council in 2017 

The Advisory Council made recommendations to the Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy for 
the appointment or reappointment of members in 2017. The Minister followed these recommendations 
and appointed Mr Vendrik as a member with effect from 1 September 2017, Mr Zalm as a member and 
as chair with effect from 1 January 2018, and reappointed Mr Hall as a member and as deputy chair with 
effect from 1 January 2018.  

At the beginning of 2017, the Director General of CBS requested the Advisory Council’s opinion on CBS’ 
publication policy. The Advisory Council approves the formulated policy. The Advisory Board’s opinion on 
the publication policy has been published on the CBS website. This policy is supplemented with a proce-
dure for complaints concerning CBS publications. The Advisory Council issued a positive opinion on this at 
its meeting. 

                                                      
2 https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/over-ons/organisatie/raad-van-advies/neven--functies-leden-raad-van-advies-en-subcommissies 
3 https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/over-ons/organisatie/raad-van-advies 
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At the end of 2017, the Director General of CBS sent the new 2019-2023 multi-annual programme to the 
Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy, together with the opinion of the Advisory Council. After 
the multi-annual programme has been approved by the Minister, this opinion will be published on the 
CBS website together at the same time as the multi-annual programme. 

The multi-annual programme was considered at each meeting of the Advisory Board. Another recurring 
subject was the review of the set of performance indicators. This resulted in an updated set of indicators 
with ambitious targets that were operational at the start of the new 2019-2023 multi-annual programme.  

The Advisory Council issued a positive opinion on the annual report and financial statements for 2016 
and on the annual plan and the budget for 2018.  

The Advisory Council’s opinions were prepared by the Audit Committee, the Programme Committee and 
the ICT Committee. 

The Advisory Council met on five occasions in 2017, the Audit Committee on seven occasions, the ICT 
Committee on four occasions and the Programme Committee on three occasions. The Council and sub-
committees met jointly on one occasion. 

The meetings of the Programme Committee devoted attention to the new multi-annual programme and 
the new set of performance indicators.  

The ICT Committee discussed the CBS development portfolio, the computer-assisted system known as 
Blaise developed by CBS for surveys and the processing of survey results, the IT organisation, the Phoenix 
data collection renewal programme, the application strategy, the data strategy, the agile working 
method and the infrastructure strategy. 

The Audit Committee discussed the details of the annual report and financial statements, including in the 
presence of the public auditor, the financial position and the quarterly reports. The discussions covered 
risk management and performance indicators as well as other matters. 

 

5.4 Recommendation on the annual report and financial statements 

In accordance with its statutory duties, the Advisory Council issues a recommendation on the annual re-
port and financial statements.  

Statement of the CBS Advisory Council 

The Advisory Council has examined the CBS 2017 annual report and financial statements. Based on its 
authority laid down in the Statistics Netherlands Act, it recommends the Director General of Statistics 
Netherlands to adopt the 2017 annual report and the 2017 financial statements. 

The Hague, 30 March 2018 

Gerrit Zalm, chair 
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Financial statements for 2017 
The financial statements of Statistics Netherlands for 2017 show that the result for the year came to 
EUR 1 million negative. The financial statements and the notes thereto are included further below in this 
annual report. The financial statements were audited by KPMG Accountants N.V., which has issued an 
unqualified independent auditor's report. The latter is included below the financial statements.  
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Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017
(after result appropriation) 

31-12-2017 31-12-2016
Amounts in thousands of euros

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

1) Tangible fixed assets
New-build (modifications of building shell) 5.088 7.109
IT resources 2.770 4.807
Plant and equipment 1.160 1.203
Other fixed operating assets 1.529 920

10.547 14.039

2) Financial fixed assets
Other financial fixed assets 1.639 3.206

1.639 3.206

Total non-current assets 12.186 17.245

CURRENT ASSETS

3) Receivables
Debtors 4.821 4.007
Other receivables 11.771 13.948

16.592 17.955

4) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 24.161 12.778

Total current assets 40.753 30.733

TOTAL ASSETS 52.939 47.978

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

5) Equity
Equalisation reserve 20 1.032

6) Provisions
Unemployment benefits 10.291 10.910
Restructuring in 2000 113 145
Long-service awards 2.675 2.641
Long-term sickness 125 132

13.204 13.828

7) Current liabilities
5.907 5.129

Other liabilities 33.808 27.989
39.714 33.118

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 52.939 47.978

Taxes and social insurance contributions
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Statement of income and expenditure for 2017 

 
 

Result appropriation 

The result for 2017 of EUR 1 million negative has been withdrawn from the equalisation reserve. 

 

 

 

  

Amounts in thousands of euros

INCOME

8) INCOME

Ministry of Economic Affairs 151.067 143.757 153.181
Additional statistical research 38.620 36.911 29.021

189.687 180.668 182.202

Other income 591 326 507

TOTALE INCOME 190.277 180.994 182.708

9) EXPENSES

Wages and salaries 120.206 117.626 120.556
Pension and social charges 29.702 27.528 28.381
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5.693 6.039 5.964
Other operating expenses 35.689 36.314 36.731

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 191.289 187.507 191.632

Net income (expense) -1.012 -6.513 -8.923

10) Financial income and expenses
Interest income 0 10 5
Interest expenses 0 0 0

0 10 5

RESULT FOR THE YEAR -1.012 -6.503 -8.918

Actual 2017 Budgeted 2017 Actual 2016
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Cash flow statement for 2017 
 

 
  

2017 2016

Amounts in thousands of euros

Net income (expense) -1.012 -8.923

Adjustments for:
Addition to less release of provisions 1.747 5
Depreciation 5.693 5.964
Change in financial fixed assets 1.567 1.567
Withdrawal from provisions -2.371 -2.459
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 57 456
Change in debtors -814 -672
Change in other receivables 2.177 -3.784
Change in payables 963 3.115
Change in other liabilities 5.631 2.906
Change in working capital, excl. cash and cash equivalents 7.957 1.565

14.650         7.098

Interest received 0 5

Cash flow from operating activities 13.639 -1.820

Investments in tangible fixed assets -2.255 -2.504
Cash flow from investing activities -2.255 -2.504

Cash flow from financing activities 0 0

Change in cash and cash equivalents 11.384 -4.324

Balance of cash and cash equivalents
Balance at 31 December 24.161 12.778
Balance at 1 January -12.778 -17.102

11.384 -4.324
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Notes to the financial statements for 2017 

General 
Statistics Netherlands, with offices in The Hague, Heerlen and Bonaire, is an autonomous administrative 
body (Zelfstandig Bestuursorgaan (ZBO)). Statistics Netherlands has its registered office in The Hague and 
is registered in the Business Register under number 51197073. Its duties, authorities and working 
method are laid down in the Statistics Netherlands Act (CBS-wet).  

Statistics Netherlands is tasked by the Dutch central government with conducting statistical research and 
publishing the resulting aggregated statistics for the purposes of practical, policy-related and scientific 
uses. 

Due to changes in the Statistics Netherlands Act, Statistics Netherlands will be managed solely by the Di-
rector-General with effect from 1 January 2017. 

The financial statements of Statistics Netherlands are drawn up in accordance with the Autonomous Ad-
ministrative Bodies Framework Act (Kaderwet ZBO), the Statistics Netherlands Act, and the other agree-
ments made with the Ministry of Economic Affairs concerning the financial statements (including those 
laid down in the Protocol of work agreements between this Ministry and Statistics Netherlands signed on 
2 October 2017). The financial statements of Statistics Netherlands are prepared in accordance with the 
aforementioned framework and, where possible, based on the same rules as apply under Title 9, Book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code. Based on the Dutch Accounting Standards (Richtlijnen voor de jaarverslaggeving 
(RJ)), Statistics Netherlands follows the recommendation to also apply the requirements of RJ 640 Not-
For-Profit Organisations (Organisaties zonder winststreven), where applicable and not contrary to Title 9, 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. In addition, Statistics Netherlands applies the provisions of the Act on Re-
muneration of Senior Officials in the Public and Semi-Public Sector (WNT). 

The financial statements relate to the financial year 2017, which ended on 31 December 2017. The finan-
cial statements are presented in euros, which is the functional currency of Statistics Netherlands. All fi-
nancial information in euros has been rounded to the nearest thousand.  

The financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting. In response to 
the budget cuts by the Rutte I and Rutte II administrations, Statistics Netherlands made agreements with 
the Ministry of Economic Affairs on a future-proof budget for implementing the multi-annual budget 
while safeguarding Statistics Netherlands's continuity as a going concern. 
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Accounting policies 
The principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities and determining the result are based on the his-
torical cost convention. Unless stated otherwise, the assets and liabilities presented in the financial 
statements are stated in thousands of euros.  

An asset is recognised on the balance sheet when it is probable that the associated future economic ben-
efits will flow to the organisation and the value of the asset can be determined reliably. Assets that do 
not meet these criteria are not recognised on the balance sheet, but accounted for as off-balance sheet 
assets and liabilities. A liability is recognised on the balance sheet when it is probable that its settlement 
will result in an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits and the amount at which the settle-
ment will take place can be determined reliably. If a transaction relating to a recognised asset or liability 
does not lead to a significant change in the economic substance of the asset or liability, the relevant as-
set or liability is not derecognised. Liabilities that do not meet these criteria are not recognised on the 
balance sheet, but accounted for as off-balance sheet assets and liabilities. An asset or a liability is no 
longer recognised on the balance sheet if a transaction results in all or almost all the rights to economic 
benefits and all or almost all the risks associated with the asset or the liability being transferred to a third 
party. An asset or a liability is also derecognised when it no longer meets the requirements of probability 
of the future economic benefits and/or its value can no longer be determined reliably. 

Income is recognised in the statement of income and expenditure when an increase in future economic 
benefits related to an increase in an asset or a decrease in a liability has arisen that can be determined 
reliably. Expenses are recognised when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in 
an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be determined reliably. Income and expenses are 
attributed to the period to which they relate and losses are recognised as soon as they are foreseeable.  

The preparation of the financial statements requires that management makes judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that influence the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and the 
underlying assumptions are constantly assessed. Revisions of estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised and in the future periods affected by the revision. 
The accounting policies with respect to the useful life of the non-current assets and the provisions are in 
the opinion of management of the most critical importance to the presentation of the financial position 
and require making estimates and assumptions. 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into euros at the exchange rate applying on 
the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into 
euros at the balance sheet date at the exchange rate applying on that date. Exchange differences arising 
from the settlement of monetary items, or from the translation of monetary items denominated in for-
eign currency, are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure in the period in which they 
occur. 
 
If Statistics Netherlands judges that an asset has become obsolete or generates significantly lower eco-
nomic performances than expected, the asset has sustained a permanent impairment loss. This may be 
the case, for example, when changes in legislation lead to changes in the services provided by Statistics 
Netherlands, a result of which the asset will no longer support the changed services or support these to a 
lesser extent. The actual output may differ from these estimates. Impairment losses are recognised in 
the statement of income and expenditure. If, in a subsequent period, the recoverable amount of a previ-
ously impaired asset increases and this increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed and the reversal (up to the amount of 
the original cost) is recognised in the statement of income and expenditure. Statistics Netherlands holds 
financial instruments, which comprise financial fixed assets, receivables, cash and cash equivalents and 
current liabilities. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet at the time 
when contractual rights or obligations are created in respect of the instrument. A financial instrument is 
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no longer recognised on the balance sheet if a transaction results in the transfer to a third party of all or 
substantially all economic benefits and all or substantially all the risks associated with that asset or liabil-
ity. Upon initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at fair value. For instruments not meas-
ured at fair value through the statement of income and expenditure, any directly attributable transaction 
costs are included in their initial measurement. The financial instruments are measured in accordance 
with the following principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities. Statistics Netherlands does not use 
derivative financial instruments (derivatives). 
 
Principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities 

Assets 

Non-current assets 

Intangible fixed assets 

Statistics Netherlands continually implements development projects. IT development is directly related 
to the production of statistics. A fixed annual budget is available (approximately EUR 10 million), within 
which projects are prioritised. The expenditures for IT development are funded from the annual lump 
sum contribution by the Ministry of Economic Affairs. Where Dutch Accounting Standards with regard to 
intangible fixed assets appear to support the capitalisation of development project costs, Statistics Neth-
erlands, in line with the method applied by similar organisations, applies a valuation method under 
which the project development costs are consistently charged directly to the statement of income and 
expenditure. 

Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less cumulative depreciation and any impairment losses. Cost 
comprises the cost of acquisition or manufacture and additional costs incurred in bringing the assets to 
their location and in the condition required for their intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated as a percentage of the cost of acquisition according to the straight-line method 
on the basis of the asset's useful life. Land and tangible fixed operating assets are not depreciated, nor 
are prepayments on tangible fixed assets amortised. The recognition of depreciation charges starts when 
an asset is available for its intended use and ends upon its decommissioning or disposal. The deprecia-
tion period for each asset category is shown in the table below.  

Non-current assets Depreciation period 

New-build (modifications of building shell) 5-10 years 

IT resources 3-5 years 

Plant and equipment 5-10 years 

Other fixed operating assets 5 years 

Statistics Netherlands determines the amount to be depreciated without taking any residual value into 
account. 

 

Disposal of non-current assets 

Assets available for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and net realisable value. 

Financial fixed assets 

Financial fixed assets are stated at the lower of their amortised cost and fair value. Write-downs to lower 
fair value are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure. Financial assets stated at amor-



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2017 – 30 March 2018                     

50 

tised cost are tested at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impair-
ment. The accounting policies for the financial fixed assets are described in the 'Financial instruments' 
section. 

Receivables 

The accounting policies for receivables are described in the 'Financial instruments' section. 

The item 'contracts yet to be billed' included under receivables concerns the portion of the additional 
statistical services yet to be billed based on the progress of work at year-end. The portion of the addi-
tional statistical services that has been billed in advance is included under other liabilities in the item 'in-
come billed in advance'.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. Unless stated otherwise, cash and cash equiva-
lents are at the free disposal of Statistics Netherlands. 

Financial instruments 

After initial recognition, receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses. After initial recognition, non-current and current liabilities and other financial 
commitments are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Evidence of impairment 
of financial assets is considered both at the level of individual assets and on a collective basis. All individ-
ually significant financial assets are specifically tested for impairment. Impairment losses and reversals of 
impairment losses are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure. A financial asset and a 
financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented on the balance sheet if the organisation has 
a sound legal instrument to settle the financial asset or financial instrument on a net basis and the organ-
isation has the firm intention to settle the balance as such on a net basis or simultaneously. 

Equity 

Under Section 33 of the Autonomous Administrative Bodies Framework Act, an autonomous administra-
tive body must create an equalisation reserve. The difference between the actual income and actual ex-
penditure is credited or debited, as applicable, to the equalisation reserve. 

Provisions 

A provision is recognised if: 
 the organisation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; and  
 a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation; and  
 if it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation. 
The provisions for restructuring, unemployment benefits, long-service awards and long-term sickness are 
stated at nominal value based on best estimates of the expenditures expected to be required to settle 
the relevant obligations and losses.  

The provision for long-service awards represents the estimated present value of the future long-service 
awards. The calculation is based on the commitments made, the likelihood of the staff concerned re-
maining, and their age. 

This provision concerns future obligations to employees on sick leave whose full or partial incapacity for 
work is expected to be permanent and who are therefore entitled to up to two years of continued salary 
payment. The provision is stated at nominal value. 
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Principles for result determination 

Revenue recognition 

Amounts received by Statistics Netherlands for its own account are recognised as revenue. Amounts re-
ceived by Statistics Netherlands on behalf of third parties are not recognised as revenue. Amounts re-
ceived in advance (both current and non-current) are accounted for as liabilities and included under ac-
cruals and deferred income. 

The contribution from the ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy is recognised in the statement 
of income and expenditure in the financial year in which the corresponding (statutory) tasks were per-
formed.  

Revenue from additional statistical services is recognised in the statement of income and expenditure 
when the amount of the revenues can be reliably determined, the collection of the amounts due is prob-
able, the stage of completion of the contract as at balance sheet date can be reliably determined, and 
the costs already incurred and the costs that (possibly) still have to be incurred to complete the contract 
can be reliably determined. 

If the result of a particular contract for services cannot be reliably estimated, contract revenues are only 
recognised up to the amount of the costs incurred to provide the services that will be recovered through 
revenues. 

Revenue from additional statistical services is recognised in the statement of income and expenditure in 
proportion to the stage of completion of the contract at the reporting date. The stage of completion is 
determined based on the costs incurred up to that date in relation to the estimated costs of completing 
the entire contract, with any relevant indexation being excluded. Revenue from sales of licences is recog-
nised in the statement of income and expenditure in proportion to the term of the licence.  

Expected losses on contracts in progress are immediately recognised in the statement of income and ex-
penditure. The amount of the loss is determined irrespective of whether the project has already been 
started, the progress of the project, or the amount in profit that is expected on other, unrelated projects. 

Other revenue is recognised in the statement of income and expenditure after completion of the per-
formed work.  

Interest income is recognised in the period to which it relates, taking into account the effective interest 
rate for the relevant asset. Any gains or losses are recognised under financial income or expenses. 

Employee benefits  

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense in the statement of income and expenditure in the pe-
riod in which the service is rendered or, if the relevant employee benefits have not yet been paid out, as 
a liability on the balance sheet. If the amounts paid out exceed the employee benefits payable, the sur-
plus is recognised under prepayments and accrued income to the extent that the amounts will be repaid 
by the relevant employees or settled against future payments by the organisation. 

The liability in respect of benefits payable during the period of service is stated at the nominal value of 
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

If employee benefits are paid that do not result in the accrual of benefits (such as continuing wage pay-
ments during sickness or work incapacity), the expected expenses are accounted for in the period in 
which these benefits are payable. A provision for long-term sickness benefits is recognised for any obliga-
tion at the balance sheet date to continue paying employee benefits to employees who are expected to 
be unable to perform part or all of their work due to sickness or work incapacity. The provision is stated 
at the best estimate of the amounts expected to be required to settle the relevant obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date. This best estimate is based on the contractual agreements with the employees (collec-
tive agreement (CAO) and individual employment contracts). Additions to and releases of provisions are 
debited and credited, respectively, to the statement of income and expenditure. 
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Pensions 

The basic principle is that the pension charge to be recognised for the reporting period is equal to the 
pension contributions payable to the pension fund for that period. Insofar as payable contributions have 
not yet been paid as at balance sheet date, a liability is recognised. If at balance sheet date the actual 
contributions paid exceed the payable contributions, a receivable is recognised to account for any repay-
ment by the fund or settlement against contributions payable in future.  

The pension scheme is administered by ABP, the pension fund for employees in the public sector. This is 
an industry-wide pension fund, and Statistics Netherlands is not obliged to make additional payments in 
the event of a deficit at the fund, other than paying in higher future contributions when necessary.  

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are benefits awarded in exchange for the termination of staff members' employ-
ment. A termination benefit is recognised as an expense when the organisation has demonstrably com-
mitted itself unconditionally to paying the termination benefit. If terminations are part of a restructuring, 
the costs of the relevant termination benefits are accounted for by creating a restructuring provision. For 
further information, see the 'Provisions' section. 

Termination benefits are measured in accordance with the nature of the benefit. If a termination benefit 
is an enhancement of post-employment benefits, it is measured using the same accounting policies as 
applied to pension schemes. Otherwise, termination benefits are measured at the best estimate of the 
amounts expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

 

Cost recognition 

Costs are recognised in accordance with the aforementioned accounting policies and allocated to the fi-
nancial year to which they relate. (Foreseeable) liabilities and potential losses arising from events that 
occurred before year-end are accounted for if they became apparent before the preparation of the fi-
nancial statements and meet the conditions for the recognition of provisions. 

Taxes 

In connection with the introduction of the Modernisation of Liability for Corporation Tax (Government 
Enterprises) Act (Wet modernisering vennootschapsbelastingplicht overheidsondernemingen), which ap-
plies to financial years starting on or after 1 January 2016, Statistics Netherlands is in discussions with 
the Dutch Tax and Customs Administration regarding its corporation tax status. Statistics Netherlands 
takes the position that it is exempt from corporation tax, as income from government tasks is exempt 
from corporation tax and the activities of Statistics Netherlands qualify as a government task. Statistics 
Netherlands requested an extension for its corporation tax return for 2016 and 2017, whereupon the Tax 
and Customs Administration extended the deadline to 1 March 2018. 

Statistics Netherlands was not liable for VAT in 2017, except for income from secondments for a period 
longer than 1 year. 

 

Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash flows in foreign cur-
rency are translated into euros using the average weighted exchange rates for the relevant periods. Ac-
cordingly, in presenting the cash flows, adjustments are made to the reported result for the financial 
year to account for items that do not relate to income and expenses during the financial year and for 
changes in financing, provisions and working capital.  
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Related parties 

Transactions with related parties apply when there is a relationship between Statistics Netherlands and a 
natural person or entity that is related to Statistics Netherlands. This includes relationships between Sta-
tistics Netherlands and its management officials and key management personnel. Transactions include 
any transfer of resources, services or obligations, irrespective of whether an amount was billed. There 
were no transactions with related parties that were not at arm's length.  
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Notes to the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 
1) Tangible fixed assets 

 

 
2) Financial fixed assets 

Other financial fixed assets 

 

 

As Statistics Netherlands is exempt from VAT, the lessor of the newly built premises in The Hague and 
Heerlen cannot claim back the VAT on its investments in these buildings. Statistics Netherlands has com-
pensated the lessor for this VAT issue by paying EUR 9.2 million in respect of the loss incurred in 2008 on 
the premises in The Hague and EUR 6.5 million in respect the loss incurred in 2009 on the premises in 
Heerlen. As the maximum period for offsetting VAT losses is ten years (in accordance with the revision 
period for VAT on the acquisition of real estate), these amounts are charged to the statement of income 
and expenditure over a period of ten years. Accordingly, EUR 1.6 million was charged to accommodation 
costs in 2017 (2016: EUR 1.6 million). This item largely has a residual maturity of less than one year. 

 

 

 

 

  

Amounts in thousands of euros New-build 
(modifications of 
building shell)

 IT resources Plant and 
equipment

Other fixed 
assets

Total

 Balance at 31/12/2016
Cost of acquisition 27.458                          19.922                         4.174                   13.081                  64.635            
Cumulative depreciation 20.349-                         15.115-                          2.971-                   12.161-                  50.596-            
Carrying amount at 31/12/2016 7.109                            4.807                           1.203                   920                        14.039            

Change in carrying amount
Investments 625                                323                                489                      818                        2.255              
Disposals 0 1.111-                            47-                         304-                        1.462-              
Reclassification of cost of acquisition 0 0 227-                       227                         0
Reclassification of cumulative depreciation 0 0 47                         47-                           0
Depreciation for the year 2.647-                            2.340-                           351-                       355-                         5.693-              
Cumulative depreciation of disposals 0 1.090                           45                         270                         1.405              
Change in carrying amount 2.022-                             2.038-                            44-                         609                        3.495-              

Balance at 31/12/2017
Cost of acquisition 28.084                         19.135                          4.390                  13.822                  65.431            
Cumulative depreciation 22.996-                         16.365-                         3.230-                   12.293-                  54.884-           
Carrying amount at 31/12/2017 5.088                            2.770                            1.160                   1.529                     10.547            

Amounts in thousands of euros 31-12-2017 31-12-2016

Prepaid compensation of losses due to VAT 1.639 3.206
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Current assets 

3) Receivables  

Debtors 

 

The bad debt provision largely relates to receivables from companies that failed to meet obligations to 
respond and/or on which a judicial and/or administrative penalty has been imposed. 

Other receivables 

 

In connection with the remainder of the tasking set by the Rutte II administration, Statistics Netherlands 
received an amount of EUR 12 million euros from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy in 
2017, consisting of EUR 4 million for 2016, EUR 2 million for 2017, EUR 4 million for 2018 and EUR 2 mil-
lion for 2019. 

The 'prepaid expenses' item mostly consist of prepaid maintenance contracts and prepaid rent.  

The item 'contracts yet to be billed' included under receivables concerns the portion of additional statis-
tical services yet to be billed based on the progress of work at year-end. 

The other liabilities mostly have maturities of less than one year. 

 

4) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents are presented in the cash flow statement. The bank balance is at 
the free disposal of Statistics Netherlands.  

Statistics Netherlands has a debit limit on the current account with the Ministry of Finance of EUR 10 mil-
lion.  

Amounts in thousands of euros 31-12-2017 31-12-2016

Debtors 5.056 4.201
Bad debt provision -235 -194

Total 4.821 4.007

Amounts in thousands of euros 31-12-2017 31-12-2016

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy 0 4.000
Prepaid expenses 4.374 3.395
Contracts yet to be billed 7.392 6.521
Other receivables 4 32

Total 11.771 13.948

Amounts in thousands of euros 31-12-2017 31-12-2016

Bank balance 24.161 12.778

Total 24.161 12.778
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5) Equity 

 

The appropriation of the result (withdrawn from the equalisation reserve) is in accordance with the 
agreement made with the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy. 

6) Provisions 

 
Unemployment benefits  

This provision concerns obligations under the unemployment compensation benefit scheme for civil 
servants, whereby former employees receive benefits to compensate them for their loss of employment. 
Statistics Netherlands may be required to grant statutory minimum termination benefits and additional 
termination benefits if an employee's termination is involuntary. Even if a termination if not part of a re-
structuring, it can nonetheless qualify as involuntary. This mainly relates to terminations under the Gen-
eral Civil Service Regulations (ARAR), such a dismissal on the grounds of unsuitability or incompetence 
(under Section 98) or honourable discharge on other grounds (under Section 99), and the expiry of tem-
porary contacts. Statistics Netherlands has opted to self-insure itself for the costs it incurs as an em-
ployer in the event of work incapacity. Accordingly, it has made a provision for these costs at the central-
ised level. An upward adjustment was made to the provision in connection with terminations in 2017 
that related to the raising of the state pension (AOW) age. On the other hand, part of the provision was 

Amounts in thousands of euros Equalisation 
reserve

Balance at 1/1/2016 9.950
Result for 2016 -8.918

Balance at 1/01/2017 1.032
Result for 2017 -1.012

Balance at 31/12/2017 20                         

Amounts in thousands of 
euros

U
nem

ploym
ent benefits

Restructuring in 2000 

Long-service aw
ards

Long-term
 sickness

Total*

Balance at 31/12/2016 10.910 145 2.641 132 13.828                                   

Addition in 2017 1.690 6 483 125 2.304                                     
Withdrawal in 2017 -1.752 -38 -449 -132 (2.371)                                     
Release -557 0 0 0 (557)                                         

Balance at 31/12/2017 10.291 113 2.675 125 13.204                                   
* The addition to/release of the provisions is recognised as expenditure ("addition to/release of provisions") under the wages and salaries.
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released due to the fact that a number of former employees found a new job or are expected to find a 
new job within one year. 

 
The table below shows the expected maturities of the unemployment benefit obligations: 

 
Restructuring in 2000  

The provision was made to cover the cost of the termination of the employment of staff who were desig-
nated as candidates for reposting under the restructuring in 2000, but whose employment was not ter-
minated prior to 3 January 2004. The Ministry of Economic Affairs has committed EUR 10.8 million to 
cover the employment termination costs. The employment termination costs comprise the personnel 
expenses during the 18-month reposting period and the expected unemployment compensation benefits 
and other benefits payable by Statistics Netherlands.  

The table below shows the expected breakdown for each period of the obligations arising from the re-
structuring started in 2000: 

 
Long-service awards 

This provision concerns future obligations for 12.5, 25, 40 and 50-year service awards.  

Long-term sickness 

This provision concerns future obligations to employees on sick leave whose full or partial incapacity for 
work is expected to be permanent and who are therefore entitled to up to two years of continued salary 
payment (Statistics Netherlands has opted to self-insure itself for these costs). 

  

Amounts in thousands of euros

2018
2019 through 

2022
2023 and 

beyond Total

Unemployment benefits 1.720 4.540 4.031 10.291

Total 1.720 4.540 4.031 10.291

Amounts in thousands of euros

2018
2019 through 

2022
2023 and 

beyond Total

Restructuring in 2000 27 86 0 113

Total 27 86 0 113
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7) Current liabilities 

Taxes and social insurance contributions 

 
Other liabilities 

 

In connection with the remainder of the tasking set by the Rutte II administration, Statistics Netherlands 
received an amount of EUR 12 million euros from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy in 
2017, including EUR 4 million for 2018 and EUR 2 million for 2019. 

The income billed in advance concerns the portion of the additional statistical services yet to be billed 
based on the progress of work at year-end. 

The outstanding expenses consist mostly of recurring costs for which the invoice was still to be received 
as at year-end. The outstanding expenses decreased because the payable contribution of EUR 2.5 million 
in connection with the restructuring in 2000 did not have to be paid to the Ministry of Economic Affairs 
and Climate Policy.  

The payables mainly concern the outstanding purchase invoices as at year-end. 

The 'advance contribution from project developer' item concerns one-off contributions received for 
rental costs for the next ten years, one in 2008 for the office in The Hague and the other in 2009 for the 
Heerlen office. 

The liability in respect of the outstanding holiday pay concerns the reserve for the months of June 
through to December, which will be paid out in May 2018. 

The item 'outstanding days' paid holiday' concerns the unused holiday entitlement as at year-end. 

Year-end bonuses concern the amount reserved in December 2017 for the year-end bonuses that will be 
paid in November 2018.  

Amounts in thousands of euros 31-12-2017 31-12-2016

Wage tax and social charges 4.145 3.493
Pensions 1.763 1.636

Total 5.907 5.129

Amounts in thousands of euros 31-12-2017 31-12-2016

Received in advance from Ministry of EA&CP 6.000 0
Income billed in advance 8.296 5.176
Outstanding expenses 3.767 8.242
Payables 5.360 4.397
Advance contribution from project developer 455 826
Outstanding holiday pay 4.608 4.667
Outstanding days' paid holiday 4.514 3.869
Year-end bonuses 667 675
Other liabilities 141 137

Total 33.808 27.989
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The other liabilities mostly have maturities of less than one year. 

 

Financial instruments 

As part of its ordinary activities, Statistics Netherlands uses various financial instruments that expose it 
to credit and/or liquidity risks. These financial instruments are stated on the balance sheet.  

Statistics Netherlands does not trade in these financial instruments and has procedures and guidelines to 
limit the size of the risks. If a counterparty defaults on payments due to Statistics Netherlands, any re-
sulting losses are limited to the fair market value of the relevant instruments. Statistics Netherlands does 
not use derivative financial instruments. 

Treasury policy 

Under the service income and expenditure scheme, Statistics Netherlands has a duty to participate in 
treasury banking with the Central Accounts Department (Rijkshoofdboekhouding) of the Ministry of Fi-
nance. This department is responsible for the accounts of the Dutch treasury.  

Treasury banking means that cash items may only be deposited in a current account with the Central Ac-
counts Department and that loans may only be concluded with this department. Statistics Netherlands 
concludes the contracts and agrees the conditions with the Central Accounts Department in respect of 
any deposit accounts or loans. 

Treasury banking is a way of maintaining a central treasury for public funds. Treasury banking is based on 
the principle that outflows of public funds from the treasury should be timed to occur only when they 
are needed to perform a public task. Through treasury banking, Statistics Netherlands ensures that its 
cash flow management is as risk-free as possible.  

Each day, the current account balance (maximum of EUR 2 million) with the principal banker is reduced 
to nil. 

Credit risk 

Statistics Netherlands is exposed to credit risk on the receivables presented on the balance sheet. As the 
debtors mostly concern government institutions, the credit risk exposure is limited. 

Liquidity risk 

Statistics Netherlands monitors its liquidity position by means of its multi-annual budget. Statistics Neth-
erlands ensures that it always has sufficient liquidity to meets its obligations. Statistics Netherlands has a 
debit limit on the current account with the Ministry of Finance of EUR 10 million. 

Fair value 

The fair value of the financial instruments stated on the balance sheet, including financial fixed assets, 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and current liabilities, approximates their carrying amount. 
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Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities  
Multi-annual financial obligations 

 

Rented premises 
The rent for the premises in The Hague partly consists of rent agreed for the period through to 2018 and 
partly of rent agreed for the period through to 2023. The rent for the premises in Heerlen partly consists 
of rent agreed for the period through to 2019 and partly of rent agreed for the period through to 2024.  

Statistics Netherlands is still in discussions with the lessor about compensating the lessor for the loss of 
income of EUR 1 million in total incurred by the lessor due to the VAT issue relating to the lease exten-
sions in 2013 and 2015. 

Off-balance sheet assets 

Statistics Netherlands has a potential receivable from a third party amounting to EUR 0.1 million. This 
concerns potential compensation receivable for damages paid by Statistics Netherlands. 

 

Finance agreements 

In response to the budget cuts by Rutte I and Rutte II, Statistics Netherlands made agreements with the 
Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy on a future-proof budget for implementing the multi-an-
nual programme. In order to increase its equity, Statistics Netherlands received an additional contribu-
tion of EUR 12 million in 2017. This amount relates to the remainder of the Rutte II tasking, consisting of 
EUR 4 million in 2016, EUR 2 million in 2017, EUR 4 million in 2018 and EUR 2 million in 2019. Thereafter, 
the contribution Statistics Netherlands receives from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy 
will be temporarily reduced by EUR 2 million for a period of six years, from 2021 through to 2026.  

 

Amounts in thousands of euros
2019

2020 through 
2024

2025 and 
beyond

Rent for offices in The Hague and Heerlen 5.600 29.600 59.300

Total 5.600 29.600 59.300
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Notes to the statement of operating income and expenditure for 2017 
8) Income 

The income is the sum of: 
 contribution from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy; 
 additional statistical services; 
 other income. 
Contribution from Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy  

   

The contribution from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy is a budgetary contribution. 
Statistics Netherlands receives this contribution based on the Multi-Annual Plan for 2014-2018. At the 
end of this period, Statistics Netherlands must have achieved the work programme. If in any year part of 
the work programme is not achieved, the contribution received in that year for the part that has not 
been achieved yet is carried forward to the next year and recognised under the liabilities. 

In prior years, Statistics Netherlands received a contribution of EUR 0.8 million from the Ministry of Eco-
nomic Affairs and Climate Policy for making changes in the General Business Register (ABR). This work 
was completed in 2017. 

The wage and price adjustment concerns the compensation received for the increase in wages and pen-
sion charges.  

In 2017, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy stated that the payable contribution of EUR 
2.5 million in connection with the restructuring in 2000 did not have to be paid.  

In connection with the remainder of the Rutte II tasking, Statistics Netherlands received an amount of 
EUR 12 million euros from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy. Of this amount, EUR 2 
million relates to 2017.  

 

Additional statistical services 

The table below shows the turnover from additional statistical services by region.  

 

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual 
2017 2017 2016

Budgetary contribution 141.357 141.357 144.455
Received earlier, but implemented subsequently 419 400 385
Wage and price adjustment 4.790 0 4.291
Contribution for regulatory burden, IT and Big Data 0 50
One-off contribution for restructuring in 2000 2.501 0
Contribution from Ministry of EA&CP for remainder of Rutte II tasking2.000 2.000 4.000
Total 151.067 143.757 153.181

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual 
2017 2017 2016

Netherlands 32.738 30.125 22.802
EU countries 4.228 4.589 4.206
Other countries 1.654 2.197 2.013

Total 38.620 36.911 29.021
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The item 'additional statistical services' concerns the realised revenue from performed activities. This in-
cludes additional statistical services to which the government makes a specific financial contribution, 
revenues from the provision of data, and turnover from the sale of Blaise licences (a software system de-
veloped by Statistics Netherlands for computerised research methods). 

The breakdown of turnover from additional statistical services by type of client is as follows: 

 
Part of the increase in this item is due to the fact that, in response to the tasking by Rutte II, statistical 
services that were previously funded from the regular budget provided by the Ministry of Economic Af-
fairs and Climate Policy are now funded by the government and government-related organisations. 

Other income 

Other income mostly consists of revenue from penalty payments and publications. 

9) Expenses 

Wages and salaries 

 

The cost of wages and salaries was higher than budgeted. This was due to the pay rise under the collective 
agreement of 1.4%, as well as the hiring of additional staff because the additional statistical services ex-
ceeded the budgeted level.  

The addition to provisions (totalling EUR 2.3 million) less the release of provisions (totalling EUR 0.6 mil-
lion) is recognised under addition to/release from provisions. 

In 2017, the average number of full-time employees (FTEs) at Statistics Netherlands was 1,816 (2016: 1,864 
FTEs). Two employees worked outside of the Netherlands. 

The breakdown by chief directorate was as follows: 

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual 
2017 2017 2016

Government and government-related 29.275 27.995 21.814
Foreign statistical agencies 1.473 1.567 1.503
Research institutions 4.916 4.366 2.844
European Commission and Eurostat 2.172 2.290 2.196
Third parties 784 692 664

Total 38.620 36.911 29.021

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual
2017 2017 2016

Wages and salaries of own staff 110.546 107.204 110.957
Addition to less release of provisions 1.747 1.000 -8
Insourced staff 7.913 9.422 9.607
Total 120.206 117.626 120.556
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Average number of FTEs per chief directorate 2017 2016

Economic and business statistics and national accounts 495 504
Social and spatial statistics 531 528
Data collection 254 267
Corporate services, IT and methodology 401 416
Other 135 149

1.816 1.864
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Remuneration of Director-General 

Disclosure pursuant to Act on Remuneration of Senior Officials in the Public and Semi-Public Sector 
(WNT).  

 

 

Senior management officials in 2017

Amounts in euros Dr T.B.P.M. Tjin-A-Tsoi Dr A.H. Kroese

Position(s) Director-General
Acting Director-
General

Term of employment in 2017 1/1 – 31/12 1/1 – 31/12
Size of employment in FTEs 1 1
Former senior official no no
(Contractual or deemed) 
employment

yes yes

Remuneration
Remuneration 156.693 137.323
Taxable expense allowance 5.961 4.876
Long-term and post-employment 
benefits

17.964 17.195

Total remuneration 180.618 159.394
Applicable WNT maximum 181.000 181.000
Explanation of any remuneration 
in excess of maximum

N/A N/A

Senior management officials in 2016

Amounts in euros Dr T.B.P.M. Tjin-A-Tsoi Dr A.H. Kroese

Position(s) Director-General Acting Director-General

Term of employment in 2016 1/1 – 31/12 1/1 – 31/12

Size of employment in FTEs 1 1

Former senior official no no

(Contractual or deemed) employment yes yes

Remuneration

Remuneration 156.654 127.457

Taxable expense allowance 6.458 4.843
Long-term and post-employment 
benefits

15.754 14.995

Total remuneration 178.866 147.295

Applicable WNT maximum 179.000 179.000
Explanation of any remuneration in 
excess of maximum

N/A N/A
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Remuneration of Advisory Council (formerly: Central Commission for Statistics) 

The Advisory Council (formerly: Central Commission for Statistics (CCS)) has several duties relating to Sta-
tistics Netherlands and providing statistical information to the central government. In 2017, the Advisory 
Council had five members and their compensation for 2017 totalled EUR 41 thousand. The compensation 
of the members of the Advisory Council is charged to the budget of Statistics Netherlands. 

 

The compensation of the members of the Advisory Council is in accordance with the regulations on the 
compensation of members of the Advisory Council (Regeling vaststelling schadeloosstelling leden Raad 
van Advies).  

 

 

Pension and social charges  

 

The pension scheme is administered by ABP, the pension fund for employees in the public sector. This is 
an industry-wide pension fund, and Statistics Netherlands is not obliged to make additional payments in 
the event of a deficit at the fund, other than paying in higher future contributions when necessary. As at 
year-end 2017, ABP had a coverage ratio (market value of plan assets expressed as a percentage of the 
defined benefit obligation pursuant to the principles set by the Dutch central bank) of 104.4% (89% of 
the required coverage ratio of 116.9% set by the Dutch central bank). If a pension fund falls below the 
minimum coverage ratio, it must agree a recovery plan with the regulatory authority. 

In 2017, the pension scheme had the following characteristics: 

Type of pension scheme  Career average scheme 
Holiday pay   8% 
Pensionable age   67 years  
Pension base   Pensionable salary less offset ('franchise') 
Partner's pension  50% of old-age pension at time of death 

Advisory Council officials in 2017

Advisory Council members Position Renumeration in 2017 Period of appointment

I. Brakman, mr. Chair of Advisory Council  €                           12.500 from 1/1/2010 until 1/1/2018

J. van Hall, RA RE Member of Advisory Council  €                          10.000 from 1/4/2014 until 1/1/2018*
Prof. F. van der Wel, RA Member of Advisory Board 10.000€                           from 1/1/2013 until 1/1/2021
C.C.M. Vendrik, drs. Member of Advisory Council  3.333€                               from 1/9/2017 until 1/9/2021*
C.W. Wortmann-Kool, drs. Member of Advisory Council 5.000€                              from 1/6/2014 until 1/6/2018*
* eligible for reappointment for a period of four years.

Supervisory senior officials in 2016

Advisory Council members Position Renumeration in 2016 Period of appointment

I. Brakman, mr. Chair of CCS/member of Audit Committee  €                          25.000 from 1/1/2010 until 1/1/2018

J. van Hall, RA RE Member of CCS/member of Audit Committee  €                           11.300 from 1/4/2014 until 1/1/2018*
Prof. F. van der Wel RA Member of CCS/member of Audit Committee 11.300€                            from 1/1/2013 until 1/1/2017*
Dr C.M. Hooymans Member of CCS  7.000€                              from 1/1/2012 until 1/1/2020
Prof. J. Plantenga Member of CCS 7.000€                              from 1/1/2009 until 1/1/2017
Prof. S. Brakman Member of CCS 7.000€                              from 1/1/2013 until 1/1/2017*
C.W. Wortmann-Kool, drs. Member of CCS 7.000€                              from 1/6/2014 until 1/6/2018*
* eligible for reappointment for a period of four years.

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual 
2017 2017 2016

Pension charges 15.917 14.390 14.516
Social charges 13.783 13.139 13.865
Total 29.702 27.528 28.381



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2017 – 30 March 2018                     

66 

Orphans' pension  10% of old-age pension  
Offset (2017)   EUR 13,150 
Accrual rate   1.875% of pension base 

 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 

 

The depreciation charges concern the deprecation of building-shell modifications and depreciation of IT 
resources. The depreciation charges decreased due to further reductions in investment levels. 

 

Other operating expenses 

 

Accommodation costs  
Accommodation costs include rental as well as energy costs and building-related costs, such as cleaning, 
security and the operation of the company restaurant. The accommodation costs decreased due to fur-
ther disposals of building units. 

Other personnel costs 
Other personnel costs include, among other things, the costs of courses, employment market communi-
cations, occupational health services and catering.  

Office costs 
Office costs consist of the costs of telecommunications, postage, outsourced printing for publications, 
and library costs.  

Official journeys 
The travel and accommodation costs consist of commuting costs and the costs of travel and accommoda-
tion in the Netherlands and abroad.  

External advice 
Advisory costs include, among other things, the costs of legal advice, tax advice, the costs of outsourcing 
payroll accounting, annual auditor's fees and the costs of IT advice.  

Computerisation 
This concerns the costs of outsourced administration services, as well as hardware maintenance and li-
censes. These costs increased due to further digitisation.  

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual 
2017 2017 2016

Depreciation charges 5.693 6.039 5.964

Amounts in thousands of euros Actual Budgeted Actual 
2017 2017 2016

Accommodation costs 12.023 12.910 12.619
Other personnel costs 2.553 2.578 3.099
Office costs 4.271 5.118 4.774
Official journeys 3.648 3.849 3.909
External advice 2.122 1.644 1.954
Computerisation 7.720 7.279 7.031
Other costs 3.352 2.936 3.345

Total 35.689 36.314 36.731
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Other 
The other costs consist of project-related costs, the costs of purchasing raw statistical data and incen-
tives.  

 

The following amounts were reimbursed to the Director-General, the Acting Director-General and the 
chief directors for business expenses: 

 

 

The following fees of KPMG Accountants N.V. and other member firms of the KPMG network, including 
VAT, were billed to Statistics Netherlands: 

 

 

These fees were allocated to the financial year in which the work was performed. 

 

  

Reimbursed expenses (amounts in euros) 2017 2016

Director-General 2.863 3.500

Acting Director-General 4.025 4.477
Chief Director of Economic and Business Statistics and National Accounts 705 487
Chief Director of Social and Spatial Statistics 286 411
Chief Director of Data Collection 425 283
Chief Director of Corporate Services, IT and Methodology 626 1.035
Chief Director of Communications and News 1.966 1.119

10.896 11.312

Amounts in thousands of euros KPMG Accountants NV 2017 Other member firms of 
KPMG network 2017

Total KPMG 
2017

Audit of the financial statements 87 0 87
Other audit engagements 68 0 68
Tax advisory services 0 19 19
Other non-audit engagements 7 0 7

162 19 181

Amounts in thousands of euros KPMG Accountants NV 2016 Other member firms of 
KPMG network 2016

Total KPMG 
2016

Audit of the financial statements 83 0 83

Other audit engagements 4 0 4
Tax advisory services 0 17 17
Other non-audit engagements 0 0 0

87 17 104
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10) Financial income and expenses 

Interest income 

The 'interest income' item concerns the interest received on the balance in the current account with the 
Ministry of Finance. As the interest rate was nil, the interest income was nil. 
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11) Subsequent events 

There were no events of material significance to the financial statements for 2017 after the balance 
sheet date. 

 

 

The Hague, 30 March 2018 

Director-General of Statistics Netherlands 

Dr T.B.P.M. Tjin-A-Tsoi 
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Other information 
Provisions governing the result appropriation 

Under Section 33 of the Autonomous Administrative Bodies Framework Act, an autonomous administra-
tive body must create an equalisation reserve. The difference between the actual income and actual ex-
penditure of the autonomous administrative body is credited or debited, as applicable, to the equalisa-
tion reserve. The result for 2017 has been accounted for in the financial statements in accordance with 
these provisions. 

 
 

The Hague, 30 March 2018 

Director-General of Statistics Netherlands 

Dr T.B.P.M. Tjin-A-Tsoi 
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Independent auditor's report 
To: Director-General (hereinafter "management") of Statistics Netherlands  
 
Report on the financial statements for 2017 included in the annual report  
 
Our opinion 

We have audited the financial statements for 2017 of Statistics Netherlands, based in The Hague. 

In our opinion: 
- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Statistics Netherlands as 

at 31 December 2017 and of its result for 2017 in accordance with the Statistics Netherlands Act, the 
Protocol of work agreements between the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Statistics Netherlands, 
and the requirements of the Wet normering topinkomens (WNT); 

- the income and expenditure and changes in the balance sheet recognised in these financial statements 
for 2017 have been recognised lawfully in all material respects in accordance with the provisions of 
the relevant legislation and regulations, as referred to in the Auditing Protocol for the financial state-
ments of Statistics Netherlands for 2017.  

The financial statements comprise: 
1. the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017; 
2. the statement of income and expenditure for 2017; 
3. the cash flow statement for 2017; and 
4. the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing, the 
WNT Auditing Protocol Regulation 2017 and the Auditing Protocol for the financial statements of Statis-
tics Netherlands for 2017. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' section of our report. 

We are independent of Statistics Netherlands in accordance with the ‘Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Ac-
countants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in 
the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels ac-
countants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).  

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Report on the other information included in the annual report 

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contains other 
information that consists of: 
- the management report; 
- the other information. 

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information: 
- is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; 
- contains all the information that must be provided pursuant to the Statistics Netherlands Act and the 

Protocol of work agreements between the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Statistics Netherlands. 

We have read the other information and based on our knowledge and our understanding, obtained 
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other infor-
mation contains material misstatements. 
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By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of the Dutch Standard 720 and the 
Auditing Protocol for the financial statements of Statistics Netherlands for 2017. The scope of the proce-
dures performed is less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the management report and the other information in 
accordance with the Statistics Netherlands Act and the Protocol of work agreements between the Minis-
try of Economic Affairs and Statistics Netherlands. 

Description of responsibilities with respect to the financial statements  

Management's responsibilities for the financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in ac-
cordance with the Statistics Netherlands Act, the Protocol of work agreements between the Ministry of 
Economic Affairs and Statistics Netherlands, and the requirements of the WNT.  

Management is responsible for ensuring that the income and expenditure and changes in the balance 
sheet recognised in the financial statements have been recognised lawfully in accordance with the provi-
sions of the relevant legislation and regulations, as referred to in the Auditing Protocol for the financial 
statements of Statistics Netherlands for 2017. 

In this context, management is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to ena-
ble compliance with those relevant laws and regulations and the preparation of the financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the abil-
ity of Statistics Netherlands to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework 
mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of ac-
counting, unless it has no realistic alternative but to cease the organisation's operations.  

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the organisa-
tion's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of financial statements 

Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain suffi-
cient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.  

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may 
not have detected all material errors and fraud during the audit.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or errors and are considered material if, individually or in the aggre-
gate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the 
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 

We have exercised professional scepticism and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the 
audit, in accordance with the Dutch Standards on Auditing, the WNT Auditing Protocol Regulation 2017, 
the Auditing Protocol for the financial statements of Statistics Netherlands for 2017, ethical standards 
and the independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:  

- identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, as well as the risk of any unlawful recognition of income or expenditure or changes 
in the balance sheet, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and ob-
taining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from er-
rors, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the over-
ride of internal control.  
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- obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of Statistics Netherlands' internal control;  

- evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the financial lawfulness criteria 
applied, as well as evaluating the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management 
and the related disclosures in the financial statements;  

- concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting, 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on Statistics Netherlands' ability to continue as a going con-
cern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our audi-
tor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the organisation ceasing to con-
tinue as a going concern.  

- evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures; and  

- evaluating whether the financial statements give a true and fair view of the underlying transactions 
and events, and whether the income and expenditure and changes in the balance sheet recognised in 
these financial statements have been recognised lawfully in all material respects.  

We communicate with the persons charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.   
 
The Hague, 30 March 2018 
KPMG Accountants N.V. 
W.A. Touw, RA 
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Appendix A. Organisation at 31 December 2017 
 

Director General 
T.B.P.M. (Tjark) Tjin-A-Tsoi 
 

Deputy Director General 
A.H. (Bert) Kroese  
 

CBS Communication and News  
M.P.M. (Mike) Ackermans  
T.J.M. (Thomas) Ruigrok (deputy) 
 

Corporate Services, IT and Methodology 
W. (Wim) van Nunspeet  
M. (Marijke) Renaud (deputy) 

 
Data collection 

A. (Astrid) Boeijen 
J.H. (Jeroen) van Velzen (deputy) 

 
Economic and business statistics and national accounts 

J.C.M. (Hanneke) Imbens 
H.J.C.M. (Hank) Hermans (deputy) 

  
Socioeconomic and spatial statistics 

H. (Huib) van de Stadt 
M.J.M. (Marleen) Verbruggen (deputy) 

 
Central bureau for policy and management support 

C.M. (Cecile) Schut 
 

Chief Information Office 
M. (Matjaz) Jug 
 

Blaise 
H.J.A. (Harry) Wijnhoven (acting) 
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Appendix B. Users’ Councils  
Various councils have been set up to advise the heads of CBS directorates on thematic areas or subjects. 
The chairs of these councils meet the Director General each year. 

 

At the end of 2017, the chairs of these councils were: 

M.A. (Michaël) van Straalen  Business Respondents’ Users’ Council 

E.E. (Eduard) van de Lustgraaf  Economic Statistics Users’ Council 

prof. I. (Ionica) Smeets    Communication Council 

H.M.M. (Pim) Claassen    Macroeconomic Statistics Users’ Council 

Prof. P.G.M. (Peter) van der Heijden  Methodology Advisory Board 

I.A.L. (Ineke) Stoop    Microdata Users’ Council 

Prof. H.B. (Han) Entzinger    Social Statistics Users’ Council 

Prof. P.J. (Peter) Boelhouwer   Statistics of the Living Environment Users’ Council 
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Appendix C. Guide 
 

CBS collects data on individuals, businesses and institutions and releases the results of its studies at the 
earliest opportunity, using various methods. 

 
CBS website (www.cbs.nl) 

The current website provides access to the output of CBS research, together with information and key 
figures about the Netherlands, organised by theme. All the publications are laid out clearly on the web-
site and detailed figures are published in the free databank StatLine. The website also has an up-to-date 
publication calendar and product catalogue.  

CBS also offers websites for four target groups. See:  

 www.werkenbijhetcbs.nl;   

 www.cbsinuwbuurt.nl;  

 www.cbsvooruwbedrijf.nl; 

 www.cbs.nl/cbsindeklas.   

 
YouTube, Twitter, Facebook 

In addition to the website, CBS also distributes its output via  

 YouTube (http://www.youtube.com/statistiekcbs); 

 Twitter (http://www.twitter.com/statistiekcbs); 

 Facebook (facebook.com/statistiekcbs).  

 

Open data 

Since 2014, CBS has provided all tables in StatLine as open data in the form of datasets 
(http://opendata.cbs.nl/dataportaal/portal.html#_la=nl). There is also a web app that uses open data 
and which can display all tables in StatLine as graphs or maps (http://opendata.cbs.nl/dataportaal/in-
dex.html). This app has been optimised for tablets. 

 

Corporate news 

The CBS Corporate News web app (https://corporate.cbs.nl) was launched in 2015, offering topical news 
items, including new services and products, international developments and events at CBS. It is the digi-
tal successor to CBS’ printed magazine and is intended for external contacts. The app has been devel-
oped specially for use on tablets, smartphones and desktops. It is simple to filter and review the articles 
and they can be shared easily on Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn. 
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Innovation portal 

On the innovation portal (https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/onze-diensten/innovatie,) CBS showcases the innova-
tive services and products it is developing. 
 

Sales of CBS products  
CBS products can be ordered through the Customer Service Department, P.O. Box 4481, 6401 CZ Heer-
len, The Netherlands, by telephone on +31 (88) 570 70 70, or by e-mail at verkoop@cbs.nl. 

 
Information service  
The central information desk for general questions about CBS and its products can be contacted by tele-
phone on +31 88 570 70 70, or by e-mail at infoservice@cbs.nl.  

 
European Statistical Data Support  
Statistical information about Europe sourced from Eurostat can be requested by telephone on +31 88 
570 70 70 (option 5), or by e-mail at infoservice@cbs.nl.  

 

CBS Contact Centre 

Companies, institutions and the public can contact this central information desk with any questions 
about CBS questionnaires or other survey material by telephone on +31 45 570 64 00, by e-mail at con-
tactcenter@cbs.nl or by using the contact form on the CBS website: www.cbs.nl/contactcenter. 

 
Press office 

The central information desk for the media can be contacted by telephone on +31 70 337 44 44 or by e-
mail at persdienst@cbs.nl. There is more information on the CBS website: www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/over-
ons/contact/pers. 
 

Centre for Policy-related Statistics  
The Centre for Policy-related Statistics provides a variety of services: 

 Additional statistical research based on available source material. 

 Advising customers, such as ministries and public policy and research institutes, large municipal-
ities and other government agencies, on finding, organising and using information required for 
policy formulation and evaluation. 

 Subject to authorisation by the Director General, providing microdatasets to researchers to per-
form their own analyses under strict security conditions. For the catalogue, see 
https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/onze-diensten/maatwerk-en-microdata/microdata-zelf-onderzoek-
doen/catalogus-microdata. 

The Centre for Policy-related Statistics charges for its services. More information can be obtained by tel-
ephone on +31 88 570 70 70, at https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/onze-diensten/maatwerk-en-microdata or by 
e-mail: maatwerk@cbs.nl or microdata@cbs.nl. 
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